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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
WICHITA FALLS DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Plaintiff,
v.
MILLENNIUM BANK,
UNITED TRUST OF SWITZERLAND S.A., Case No.: 7:09-CV-050-0
UT of S, LLC,

MILLENNIUM FINANCIAL GROUP,

WILLIAM J. WISE,
d/b/a STERLING ADMINISTRATION,
d/b/a STERLING INVESTMENT SERVICES
d/b/a MILLENNIUM AVIATION,

KRISTI M. HOEGEL, a/k/a KRISTI M. CHRISTOPHER
a/k/a BESSY LU,

JACQUELINE S. HOEGEL, a/k/a JACQULINE 8.

HOEGEL, a/k/a JACKIE S. HOEGEL,

PHILIPPE ANGELONI, and BRIJESH CHOPRA,

Defendants,
And

UNITED T OF S, LLC, STERLING LS., LLC,
MATRIX ADMINISTRATION, LLC,

JASMINE ADMINISTRATION, LLC,

LYNN P. WISE, DARYL C. HOEGEL, RYAN D.
HOEGEL, and LAURIE H. WALTON,

Relief Defendants.
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RECEIVER’S FOURTH MOTION FOR APPROVAL
OF INTERIM FEE APPLICATION AND BRIEF IN SUPPORT

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT:
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Richard B. Roper, the Court-appointed Receiver in this action, submits this Fourth
Motion for Approval of Interim Fee Application and Brief in Support, seeking the Court’s
approval to pay invoices for interim fees and expenses, incurred between January 1, 2012 and
September 30, 2012, in the amount of $219,948.08, to the firms that have rendered professional
services on behalf of the Receivership Estate, and in the amount of $12,714.32 for the Receiver’s
own work (“Fee Application”). The tasks and challenges presented by this Receivership have
been numerous and, in many instances, complex and time-consuming. The primary work of the
Receiver’s counsel, which comprises the bulk of the fees sought in this Application, has revolved
around prosecuting ancillary litigation to “claw back” funds transferred to perpetuate the Ponzi
scheme back into the Receivership Estate. In addition, the Receiver and his counsel have
continued their significant efforts to communicate with investors and consider the hundreds of
claims made by the defrauded victims in this matter.

Thompson & Knight LLP, the law firm representing the Receiver and providing primary,
daily assistance in seizing and liquidating assets of the Estate, analyzing documents and evidence
seized from the Defendants, analyzing the figures and details provided by the forensic
accountants, applying knowledge from other evidence to make sense of the accounting itself,
analyzing, preparing, and prosecuting “claw-back” and third-party litigation matters, and more,
has again provided an aggregate twenty percent (20%) discount to all fees incurred in the course
and scope of the firm’s still ongoing and extensive work. Furthermore, Thompson & Knight has
demonstrated billing judgment by writing off unproductive, possibly excessive and/or redundant
work, as well as by waiving significant fees related to the review and analysis required in the

ongoing investor claims process. Additionally, Thompson & Knight has not charged the Estate
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for attorney time spent preparing any Fee Application, preparing underlying billing statements,
or preparing any of the Receiver’s Reports filed in this case.

Bingham Greenebaum Doll LLP (*BGD”) served as the Receiver’s local counsel in the
Kentucky bankruptcy court. David Jones, one of the primary brokers working to sell Millennium
CD products over the years Wise perpetuated his Ponzi scheme, filed for bankruptcy in
Kentucky shortly after the Receiver instituted an ancillary suit against the brokers. BGD assisted
the Receiver in the bankruptcy and opposed the discharge of the Receiver’s claim. Due in part to
the work of BGD, the Kentucky bankruptcy court has stayed its own jurisdiction, if any, over the
Receiver’s claims against Jones, lifted the automatic bankruptcy stay against Jones, and cleared
the way for the Receiver to continue to pursue his claims against Jones in this Court.

The work of these legal professionals (the “Professionals”) is described in detail in the
attached invoices, as well as in the Report of the Receiver Dated November 29, 2012 and
Request for Interim Distribution (the “Report™), which the Receiver submits in support of this
application as Exhibit A. The information contained in the invoices and Report demonstrates the
necessity for the Professionals’ services and the reasonableness of their fees and expenses in this

case.

L BACKGROUND

To aid the Court’s consideration of this Motion, the Receiver includes the following
background section that is substantially similar to the same section filed with the prior fee
application and which provides the necessary context for the description of the work included in
this Motion.

On March 26, 2009, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) filed
this lawsuit alleging that Defendants engaged in a fraudulent “Ponzi scheme” involving the
purported sale of Certificates of Deposit with higher-than-legitimate interest rates, through which
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Defendants obtained at least $68 million from hundreds of investors. The Receiver now knows
that, since 1996, the Defendants took in more than $100 million of investor money. This Court
found that it was both necessary and appropriate to appoint a receiver, who assumed exclusive
Jurisdiction over all assets and records of the Defendants and any entities they owned or
controlled worldwide. Order Appointing Receiver, Doc. 10 at Y 1-2 and Amended Order
Appointing Receiver, Doc. 46 at § 1-2 (collectively, the “Orders Appointing Receiver” or the
“Orders”). The Orders Appointing Receiver charged the Receiver with the responsibility of
acquiring exclusive control and possession over the Receivership Estate including the tangible
and intangible, real and personal property of the Defendants (and property of Relief Defendants
traceable to the fraud), and performing all acts necessary to conserve, manage, and preserve the
Receivership Estate. Orders Appointing Receiver at 5.

A. SUMMARY OF DEFENDANTS’ FRAUD.

The Defendant entities were comprised of Millennium Bank; United Trust of Switzerland
S.A.; UT of S, LLC; Millennium Financial Group; Sterling Administration; Sterling Investment
Services; and Millennium Aviation. These entities were aligned in a fairly simple infrastructure,
and were controlled primarily by Defendant William J. Wise. Wise was the chief architect of the
fraud, with the assistance of Defendants Kristi Hoegel and Jacqueline Hoegel. Essentially,
Millennium Bank solicited funds from investors, primarily through internet advertising and
targeted marketing to individual investors, for the purchase of self-styled “certificates of deposit”
promising various guaranteed rates of return, most of which far exceeded the rate of return on a
traditional bank certificate of deposit (“CD”). Defendants had two stateside offices, one in Napa,
California, and another in Raleigh, North Carolina. The third primary Millennium location was
the actual bank itself, located on the island of St. Vincent. All United States offices were closed
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upon the filing of this lawsuit and the Receiver and his team seized all documents and materials
located therein, including computers.
B. How INVESTOR FUNDS WERE RECEIVED AND ROUTED.

The following description of the Millennium scheme is largely repeated from the
Receiver’s First Fee Application, filed on December 4, 2009, but is included here for the sake of
completeness. The Defendant entities had very little corporate structure. Investors would simply
mail in checks for purchase of CDs to the Napa, California location, typically made payable to
UT of S, LLC (though some investors did send checks and wires payable to Sterling and
Millennium Bank). Investors often negotiated their purchases through telephone conferences
with the Hoegel Defendants and/or other Defendant employees including Scott Christopher,
David Jones, and Robert Kelty. Investors were most often instructed by these individuals to
make checks payable to UT of S, LLC and mail them to Millennium Bank in St. Vincent and the
Grenadines. Once received by Defendants on the island of St. Vincent, these investor checks
would simply be re-routed to Defendants’ Napa, California office. Once received in California,
Defendants’ staff would deposit the funds into a single UT of S, LLC bank account ending 9648
and maintained with Washington Mutual/JP Morgan Chase Bank. Any investor funds delivered
by wire transfer were deposited into the same, single UT of S account. Sterling investments
were deposited into a WaMu account.

C. MILLENNIUM BANK WAS NOT A TRUE BANK AND INVESTOR MONEY WAS NEVER
INVESTED.,

Neither Millennium Bank nor United Trust of Switzerland, S.A. were banks in the
traditional sense, nor were they registered securities dealers. Millennium Bank was chartered in
St. Vincent, where investors believed their funds were being used for investment purposes.

However, none of the funds remitted to Millennium Bank, or other Defendant entities, for the
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purchase of CDs were invested. Rather, a majority of investor funds were diverted to and
misappropriated by the various Defendants. While Defendants were constantly diverting
investor dollars to themselves, significant portions of these funds were used to carry on their
fraudulent scheme in an attempt to create the appearance of a solvent, legitimate investment
business. Specifically, funds received from new investors were utilized to pay redemptions and
make interest payments to earlier investors under the terms of an investor’s CD. As the
Commission has alleged, Defendants sold CDs with guaranteed rates of return. Hence, earlier
investors who chose to cash out their investments when the term of a CD concluded were paid
the full amount of their investment, plus interest, with later investors’ money. Likewise,
investors who received interest payments from time to time during the term of one or more CDs
were not receiving interest, as there were no underlying investments generating any return.
Rather, they too were simply receiving other investors’ money in an amount equal to the interest
rate Defendants quoted when the investor purchased the altogether fake CD.

In the 2010 Fee Application, the Receiver noted that a significant amount of investor
money, possibly the vast majority of it, was squandered on the Defendants’ personal lifestyles
and luxuries based on the information available at that time. This sort of spending included, for
example, money paid for foreign escorts, multi-thousand-dollar meals, international travel, and
$12,000 weekly allowance payments to Mrs. Wise, which could not be recovered into the Estate.
Accountants with LSS&M analyzed Defendants’ banking and business records (and worked in
conjunction with Receiver’s counsel) to conclusively determine, among other things, (a) specific
amounts of funds used to pay interest and redemptions to investors; and (b) specific amounts of
funds diverted to Defendants and how those funds were used. The Receiver’s counsel at
Thompson & Knight then undeljtook the process of applying knowledge about the various
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individuals involved to further ascertain exactly how money was spent and should be
characterized. The Receiver’s Report of November 22, 2010 details at length how money moved
through the Defendants’ bank accounts at the direction of William Wise. The accounting
analysis confirmed what the Receiver suspected at the time of his last Report to this Court—that
the Defendants paid some older investors back with interest over time in order to perpetuate the
scheme, and then largely squandered the rest of the money on luxurious lifestyles and purchases.
When the Receivership was instituted in March 2009, very little of the amount taken in over the
previous years remained in the Defendants’ accounts.

D. CONSTITUTION OF THE RECEIVERSHIP ESTATE.

Because the majority of the funds remitted to Defendants by various investors were
simply misappropriated for the personal gain of Defendant William J. Wise and other individual
and Relief Defendants, the Receivership Estate was originally comprised primarily of limited
cash seized from Defendants’ and Relief Defendants’ bank accounts, real property holdings, and
personal property assets purchased with proceeds of the fraud. Despite investigation by
international asset search professionals, accounting analysis, and a thorough review of
Defendants’ records, the Receiver has not identified or located any significant, still-existing
source of funds maintained by or on behalf of Defendants, with the exception of certain
fraudulent transfers discussed in the 2010 and 2011 Receiver’s Reports and later in this Fee
Application.

Upon his appointment, the Receiver seized a total of $482,237.45 from bank accounts
maintained by Defendants and Relief Defendants, which accounts were identified by the
Commission and business records and were placed under the Court’s Asset Freeze Order.
Likewise, the Estate received deposits of cash from the sale of William Wise’s stateside wine
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collection ($197,280.07); the sale of William and Lynn Wise’s home ($810,780.93); auction of
William and Lynn Wise’s personal property ($647,978.25); the liquidation of the Hoegel
Defendants’ real and personal property ($43,569.32); cash seized from the Defendants’ personal
possession ($15,000.00); proceeds received after an airplane originally purchased by Defendants
was surrendered to a secured lien holder ($100,000.00); proceeds from the sale of a limousine
(83,000 to date); proceeds from an account maintained by Brijesh Chopra at Bank of China
($11,015.14); funds traceable to the Defendants’ fraud and repatriated in the United States by
JPLs at KPMG ($73,985.90); and proceeds from the sale of an Escalade in which Wise had very
little equity ($7,690.31). The cash on deposit in the Receivership Estate’s interest-bearing
money market account has only been spent to pay some necessary costs for administration of the
Receivership and those amounts approved in this Court’s orders granting the Receiver’s First and
Second Fee Applications.

The Receiver learned that more than $5,000,000 had been paid out in fictitious interest to
domestic investors who also received all of their principal back. The Receiver sent a demand
letter to these “net winning” investors, explained that the “interest” they received was really just
money belonging to newer investors, and asked that the net winning investors return the amounts
they received beyond the principal they originally invested. As detailed in the April 9, 2012
Report, the Receiver initiated ancillary litigation against these net winning investors to claw back
additional fictitious interest, and has either settled the claims or obtained judgments against the
various net winners. This process has resulted in a return of over $1,585,389.47 as of the date of
this Fee Application, further increasing the current body of the Receivership Estate.

Additionally, the Receiver has compromised claims against certain other ancillary defendants,
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expected to increase the Estate by several hundred thousand dollars more, and continues to
pursue litigation against the non-settling, non-investor ancillary defendants.
E. WORK PERFORMED FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE RECEIVERSHIP ESTATE

The bulk of the work performed by the Receiver and his team prior to the work
represented by this application was related to (1) locating and securing the assets of the Estate;
(2) locating, collecting, organizing, and analyzing necessary information about assets and
liabilities of the Estate so that the Receiver can take the appropriate steps to recover and
monetize assets, and to properly address claims and liabilities; (3) communicating with investors,
cataloging investor claims and investment information, and analyzing investor claim forms and
correspondence; (4) obtaining banking records for Defendants and Relief Defendants, reviewing
Defendants’ corporate and financial records; (5) negotiating with lien-holders regarding their
interests in Estate assets; (6) contacting foreign authorities and financial institutions in an effort
to obtain information pertaining to Defendants’ assets; (7) preparing an extensive and
comprehensive analysis of the manner in which Defendants’ funds were expended since the
inception of the scheme; (8) performing those tasks necessary to advance both this enforcement
action and other ongoing investigations into the activities of the Defendants; and (9)
communicating with and considering the claims of numerous investors.

Most recently, the Receiver has engaged in ancillary litigation with multiple parties,
including the net winning investors, to claw back amounts that were transferred to various parties
to perpetuate the Ponzi scheme. Because the clawback claims were brought against more than
300 defendants, the prosecution. of the ancillary litigation significantly added to the complexity
of the Receiver’s task and involved three separate lawsuits against various classes of defendants.
On February 21, 2012 William Wise was indicted and on April 17, 2012, Mr. Wise turned
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himself in. As part of his plea deal Wise agreed to cooperate with the Receiver, and the Receiver
is hopeful that his arrest will provide the Receiver with additional information regarding missing
funds and assets, where such assets or funds can be located, or confirmation of where funds were
spent. A complete and detailed discussion of the Receiver’s work to date is provided in the
Receiver’s Report filed on November 29, 2012 and Request for Interim Distribution and attached
hereto as Exhibit A.

F. ADDITIONAL WORK REMAINING TO INCREASE THE ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR
DISTRIBUTION TO INVESTORS AND COMPLETE A CLAIMS PROCESS

As he has publicly stated several times, the Receiver believes that the total value of the
assets of the Estate is likely to be a mere fraction of the millions of dollars that would be needed
to pay all anticipated claims against the Estate. Nevertheless, the amount of value yet to be
recovered, as discussed above, is expected to significantly increase the amount now in the
Estate’s bank account. The Receiver is hopeful that future recoveries, particularly from the
ancillary litigation, will exceed fﬁture costs of administering the Estate based on the negotiated
settlements of the claims brougilt against the net winning investors and other ancillary
defendants.

Taking all of this into consideration, and pursuant to the Orders Appointing Receiver, the
Receiver respectfully requests that this Court approve this fourth interim Fee Application.

I REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF FEES FROM JANUARY 1, 2012 TO
SEPTEMBER 30, 2012

The fee statements for the work performed by the Receiver and his team of professionals
are being provided to the Court in camera, with certain work related to the preparation of the
Receiver’s Report and Fee Application as well as potentially inefficient time highlighted and
deducted from the total amount requested herein. Most of the work apparent on those fee
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statements is related to prosecution of the ancillary litigation. As noted above, the case against
the net winners involved over 300 defendants, and the Receiver worked to obtain settlements
and/or judgments as to each of those defendants. This work included extensive communications,
negotiations, and correspondence with defendants, as well as briefing related to motions for
summary judgment or default judgments, where those motions were necessary. Likewise, the
Receiver prosecuted his litigatibn against Atlanta Northside Aviation, which received a
significant fraudulent transfer, to success on a motion for summary judgment. Finally, the
Receiver undertook a suit against the brokers who sold the fraudulent certificates of deposit.
This litigation required the Receiver to work to lift a bankruptcy stay against one broker, to
obtain specific discovery related to the commission structure provided to each broker, to work
toward settlement with each defendant, and to interview outside witnesses who had knowledge
of the broker’s association with the Millennium Entities.

Additionally, the Receiver has continued in extensive communications with various
investors involved in the Ponzi scheme as well as cooperated with various government
authorities in the related criminal proceedings. That cooperation ultimately resulted in the
indictment of both William Wise and Jackie Hoegel in San Francisco, California. William Wise
has since been apprehended and is in custody as of the date of this application. The Receiver has
worked to produce any and all evidence and testimony required to effectuate the goals of the
U.S. Attorney’s office handling this case, and to see that justice may be done on behalf of the
defrauded investors involved.

The Orders Appointing Receiver direct and authorize the Receiver to retain and
compensate professionals in connection with the administration of the Receivership Estate:

[T]he Receiver is specifically directed and authorized to perform the following
acts and duties:
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Aok

Enter into such agreements in connection with the administration of the
Receivership Estate, including, but not limited to, the employment of such
managers, agents, custodians, consultants, investigators, attorneys, and
accountants as Receiver judges necessary to perform the duties set forth in this
Order and to compensate them from the Receivership Assets.

Orders Appointing Receiver § 5(h). Accordingly, shortly after his appointment, the Receiver
hired the Professionals discussed herein, who were needed to carry out his Court-ordered duties.
The Amended Orders Appointing Receiver direct the Receiver to “[f]ile with this Court
requests for approval of reasonable fees to be paid to the Receiver and any person or any entity
retained by him and interim and final accountings for any reasonable expenses incurred and paid
pursuant to order of this Court.” Orders Appointing Receiver. § 5(m). Accordingly, the
Receiver files this Fee Application and requests that the Court approve the fees and expenses
billed by the Receiver and his retained Professionals for work performed from January 1, 2012
through September 30, 2012.
A. BASED UPON THE WELL-SETTLED LAW, THE COURT SHOULD APPROVE THE PAYMENT

OF ALL REASONABLE AND NECESSARY PROFESSIONAL FEES AND EXPENSES IN THIS
CASE.

Courts examining a request for fees and expenses incurred by a receiver must determine
whether the time spent, services performed, expenses incurred, and hourly rates charged are

reasonable and necessary under the factors set forth by the Fifth Circuit.! Johnson v. Georgia

: These factors, often referred to as the Johnson factors, are: (1) the time and labor required for the

litigation; (2) the novelty and complication of the issues; (3) the skill required to properly litigate the
issues; (4) whether the attorney was precluded from other employment by the acceptance of this case; (5)
the attorney’s customary fee; (6) whether the fee is fixed or contingent; (7) whether the client or the
circumstances imposed time limitations; (8) the amount involved and the results obtained; (9) the
experience, reputation, and ability of the attorney; (10) the “undesirability” of the case; (11) the nature
and length of the attorney-client relationship; and (12) awards in similar cases. Johnson v. Georgia
Highway Express, Inc., 488 F.2d 714, 717-19 (Sth Cir. 1974). In applying the Johnson factors, “the
district court must explain the findings and the reasons upon which the award is based. However, it is not
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Highway Express, Inc., 488 F.2d 714, 717-19 (5th Cir. 1974); SEC v. Megafund Corp., 3:05-
CV-1328-L, 2008 WL 2839998, *2 (N.D. Tex. June 24, 2008); SEC v. Megafund Corp., 3:05-
CV-1328-L, 2006 WL 42367, *‘1 (N.D. Tex. Jan. 9, 2006); SEC v. Funding Res. Group, 3:98-
CV-2689-M, 2003 WL 145411, *1 (N.D. Tex. Jan. 15, 2003).

This examination of reasonableness and necessity should take into account all of the
circumstances surrounding the receivership. See SEC v. W.L. Moody & Co., Bankers
(Unincorporated), 374 F. Supp. 465, 480 (S.D. Tex. 1974), aff’d, 519 F.2d 1087 (5th Cir. 1975).
Because all receiverships are different, a court’s analysis of the fees and expenses must be
tailored to the particular case. Id.; see SEC v. Tanner, No. 05-4057, 2007 WL 2013606, *3 (D.
Kan. May 22, 2007). The characteristics cited in the following cases are similar to this
Receivership and support an award of the fees and expenses requested herein.

The complexity and difficulty associated with the receivership are highly relevant factors
in determining the reasonableness of professional fees. See SEC. v. Fifth Ave. Coach Lines, Inc.,
364 F. Supp. 1220, 1222 (S.D.N.Y. 1973) (awarding interim fees and expenses to law firm for
role in receivership and noting that it involved wide variety of complex legal matters requiring
the time, competence, and diverse resources of a law firm of high caliber); W.L. Moody & Co.,
374 F. Supp. at 484 (“An equitable receivership is by its very nature, a legally complex
process.”); Tanner, 2007 WL 2013606 at *3 (the identification of investors and the location of
their funds was made “excruciatingly difficult” by lack of assistance from defendants); Funding
Res. Group, 2003 WL 145411 at *1 (finding fees and expenses were reasonable in light of
difficulties receiver encountered). In the instant case, the Receiver and his team of Professionals

have had to conduct their work without meaningful assistance from the Defendants or Relief

required to address fully each of the 12 factors.” Curtis v. Bill Hanna Ford, Inc., 822 F.2d 549, 552 (5th
Cir. 1987) (citation omitted).

RECEIVER’S FOURTH FEE APPLICATION — PAGE 13
515587 000002 Active 5266710.2



Case 7:09-cv-00050-O Document 197 Filed 11/29/12 Page 14 of 25 PagelD 2546

Defendants and even without significant documentary evidence, as the Defendants maintained
inadequate and incomplete accounting records and William Wise disclosed very little detailed
information to his employees. Further, the vast number of clawback defendants in the ancillary
litigation has added to its complexity, as each defendant’s situation frequently warrants and
requires individual attention both to matters of law and fact, as well as efforts at settlement..

The degree of success achieved in solving legal and practical problems should be
considered when calculating the fees awarded. See Fifth Ave. Coach Lines, Inc., 364 F. Supp. at
1222; W.L. Moody & Co., 374 F. Supp. at 484-85; Johnson, 488 F.2d at 718. In this case, the
Receiver and his team of Professionals have worked diligently to wind up Defendants’
businesses, terminate contracts, identify and secure assets, records, and evidence, investigate
leads, recover fraudulently transferred assets, communicate with investors, and cooperate with
all governmental authorities. This work, while admittedly not resulting in the recovery of
significant funds that were frittered away by the Defendants, has allowed the Receiver to
determine the scope of the fraud and the status of possible recoveries to the Estate sooner rather
than later. Additionally, the Receiver and his counsel and accountants now have determined how
Defendants’ funds were spent and have identified several sources of Receivership assets which
are now being sought through the ancillary claw back litigation. The early returns of fictitious
interest by net winning investors suggest that the Estate will continue to grow as a result of this
pending litigation to claw back monies fraudulently transferred to others in the course of this
scheme. The profits from this litigation have exceeded its costs.

Courts examine the credentials, experience, reputation, and other professional qualities
required to carry out the Court’s orders when assessing the reasonableness of the rates charged
for services to a receivership. See W.L. Moody & Co., 374 F. Supp. at 481 (holding that a court
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should give “considerable weight” to “a receiver’s abilities, as required by the tasks of the
receivership™); Tanner, 2007 WL 2013606 at *3 (granting receiver’s fee request, despite
investors’ concerns over amount requested, in part because the court recognized that the receiver
and his counsel were experienced in the relevant areas of law); SEC v. Aquacell Batteries, Inc.,
No. 6:07-cv-608-Orl-22DAB, 2008 WL 276026, *4 (M.D. Fla. Jan. 31, 2008) (“The Receiver
retained well qualified, experienced counsel and such representation does not come cheap.”).
When the receivership commands full-time attention and prevents professionals from
accepting other engagements, the fee award should reflect it. See Moody, 374 F. Supp. at 483-
84, 486. Likewise, courts should consider the usual and customary fees charged and the
evidence presented to support the application for fees. See Fifth Ave. Coach Lines, Inc., 364 F.
Supp. at 1222 (fees awarded in full because based on law firm’s usual hourly rate and supported
by meticulous records); see Johnson, 488 F.2d at 718 (the customary fee for similar work in the
community should be considered). In this case, the Receiver and his team of Professionals,
including his attorneys, have devoted considerable time to conducting the many tasks required in
this case, including conducting legal research, drafting and arguing motions, identifying,
securing and liquidating assets, communicating with investors, the media, opposing counsel, the
Commission, and government authorities, and more — all at a discounted rate. The Receiver has
reduced the total fees incurred in this case by $22,752.80, which represents all time attributable
by any person to work done in support of any Receiver’s Report or Fee Application over the
relevant time period. Hence, all of the above-described factors weigh in favor of approving the

request for fees and expenses in this case.
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B. THE FEES AND EXPENSES ARE REASONABLE AND NECESSARY IN LIGHT OF THE
CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE.

The Receiver requests approval of fees and expenses for the Professionals identified
herein, which have provided the services summarized below, in the amounts noted (which reflect
billings for work from January 1, 2012 through September 30, 2012). As noted above, all
professionals have agreed to 20% discounts of their customary fees, and the amounts requested
reflect those discounts. The time spent, services performed, hourly rates charged, and expenses
incurred by the Professionals have been at all times reasonable and necessary, and indeed
essential, for the Receiver to perform his Court-ordered duties. Where time spent has been
redundant, non-productive, or otherwise excessive in any way, the Receiver has reduced the fees
sought by these amounts, shown clearly on the bills provided in camera.

1. THOMPSON & KNIGHT LLP SENIOR PARTNER RICHARD ROPER, RECEIVER

Thompson & Knight LLP (“Thompson & Knight”) is a Dallas-based, international full-
service law firm in which Richard Roper, the Court-appointed Receiver herein, is a senior
partner. Mr. Roper has been licensed to practice law in Texas since 1982. He is the former
United States Attorney for the Northern District of Texas, a position in which he served from
2004 until 2008, when he joined Thompson & Knight. Prior to his appointment as United States
Attorney, Mr. Roper was a career prosecutor, serving as an Assistant United States Attorney
between 1987 and 2004 and, previously, as the Assistant District Attorney for Tarrant County
District Attorney’s Office in Fort Worth, Texas from 1982-1987. Mr. Roper’s private practice is
concentrated in, among other things, SEC and state securities compliance and enforcement
matters. Mr. Roper regularly represents clients on a full range of corporate and securities law
issues. Mr. Roper has previously served as counsel for other court-appointed equity receivers.

See W.L. Moody & Co., 374 F. Supp. at 481 (receiver’s qualification relevant to fee awarded);
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Tanner, 2007 WL 2013606 at *3; Aquacell Batteries, Inc., 2008 WL 276026 at *4; Johnson, 488
F.2d at 718, 719.

The Receiver has had to discharge his duties with little assistance from the individual
Defendants. See Tanner, 2007 WL 2013606 at *3 (receiver’s tasks “excruciatingly difficult”
without help from defendants); Moody, 374 F. Supp. at 471, 480 (defendant impeded receiver’s
progress and had to be subpoenaed to testify). Although William Wise, the chief architect and
operator of the Ponzi scheme, was indicted on February 21, 2012, he was unwilling to
communicate or cooperate with the Receiver. Wise was recently apprehended and has agreed as
part of the plea deal to cooperate with the Receiver.

The Receiver delegated tasks appropriately to Professionals, and utilized the information
provided by them to develop and execute a plan to maximize the value of a limited-value
Receivership Estate while still accomplishing the tasks required of him. See Fifth Ave. Coach
Lines, Inc., 364 F. Supp. at 1222; W.L. Moody & Co., 374 F. Supp. at 480; Mobley, 2000 WL
1702024 at *2; Johnson, 488 F.2d at 718.

The fees charged by Thompson & Knight for Mr. Roper’s work as the Court-appointed
Receiver include all compensation being paid for his services during the applicable period. A
bill for those services from January 1, 2012 through September 30, 2012 is attached as Exhibit B.
The Receiver requests approval of payment to Thompson & Knight for $5,880.00 in fees for his
work, and $6,834.32 in costs, for a total of $12,714.32. Complete fee statements for the
Receiver’s work are being provided to the Court for in camera review.

2. THOMPSON & KNIGHT LLP AS COUNSEL REPRESENTING THE RECEIVER.

Thompson & Knight LLP is an international law firm headquartered in Dallas with
offices throughout the United States and Latin America. Thompson & Knight has provided

critical legal expertise and manpower for every aspect of this Receivership. The lawyers working
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on this case have included senior partners, junior associates, legal assistants, and support staff as
warranted by the relevant tasks. See Johnson, 488 F.2d at 718-19 (compensation often reflects
degree of experience). While ensuring proper and effective representation, the Receiver has only
utilized the services of a limited team of lawyers in order to limit fees and ensure a lean and
nimble team of Professionals. The Receiver has further reduced fees by placing primary
responsibility for ancillary litigation on senior and mid-level associates.

Thompson and Knight has undertaken numerous tasks to further the goals of the
Receivership during the period covered by this Fee Application including, but not limited to:

e Obtaining records through subpoenas and other discovery methods;

e Analyzing bank records and accounting information in the context of known
relationships and information related to the scheme in order to determine how and
where money was spent by Defendants;

¢ Determining the source of fraudulent transfers and analyzing the benefit of third-
party litigation to retrieve monies believed to be Receivership assets for the

benefit of the Receivership Estate;

¢ Communicating with investors, government agencies, and the media as necessary
and warranted;

e Undertaking a claims process for investors who have lost money to the
Defendants;

e Analyzing investor account information and relevant banking records to determine
the legitimacy and appropriate amounts of investor claims;

¢ Communicating with investors who received fictitious interest in addition to the
full return of their principal to secure repayment of the “interest” to the
Receivership Estate for distribution in the claims process and administration of
the Estate;

e Undertaking legal research, drafting, and the development of evidence relevant to
various litigation against third parties in an effort to return additional monies to
the Receivership Estate;

e Drafting and filing ancillary litigation against more than 300 individuals and
entities intended to claw back funds into the Receivership Estate; and
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o Negotiating settlements of claw back claims with numerous defendants.

Thompson & Knight has served as lead trial counsel to the Receiver and has represented
the Receiver in all proceedings in this case. Thompson & Knight has also been the Receiver’s
principal counsel on non-litigation matters. These matters have required expertise in a wide
range of legal subject matters, including bankruptcy, marital property rights, labor and
employment, securities, landlord-tenant, real estate, banking, trust law, liens, tax law, fiduciary
issues, insurance, private equity, and aircraft. See Fifth Ave. Coach Lines, Inc., 364 F. Supp. at
1222 (awarding interim fees and expenses to law firm for role in receivership and noting that it
involved wide variety of comple); legal matters requiring the time, competence, and diverse
resources of a law firm of high caliber); W.L. Moody & Co., 374 F. Supp. at 484; Tanner, 2007
WL 2013606 at *3; Funding Res. Group, 2003 WL 145411 at *1; Mobley, 2000 WL 1702024 at
*2; Johnson, 488 F.2d at 718 (attorneys should be rewarded for accepting the challenges of a
difficult case).

The firm has also made reports to governmental and regulatory agencies and worked
diligently to make seized and subpoenaed records, data, information, and equipment available to
them in the course of their ongoing investigations. Further, Thompson & Knight prepared and
maintains the Receiver’s website and has distributed other communications (most of which
required detailed knowledge of legal matters) to various constituents such as investors,
claimants, creditors, Defendants, Relief Defendants, lien holders, and others. All such tasks
were necessary and essential to the work of the Receiver.

A bill for Thompson & Knight’s services from January 1, 2012 through September 30,
2012 is attached as Exhibit C. The complete, unredacted bills have been provided to the Court

for in camera review. The hours expended and identified as unproductive or redundant have
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been reduced from the total in calculating the final fees for which the Receiver now seeks
approval. SEC v. AmeriFirst Funding, Inc., No. 3:07-CV-1188-D, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
42166, *7 (N.D. Tex. 2008) (J. Fitzwater); Saizan v. Delta Concrete Prods. Co., 448 F.3d 795,
799 (5™ Cir. 2006). Therefore, the Receiver requests approval of payment to Thompson &
Knight for $208,664.40 in fees and $3,470.61 in expenses, for a total payment of $212,135.01 for
nine months” work.

This amount reflects the agreed 20% discount on Thompson & Knight’s usual and
customary fees, and the fee schedule remains nearly identical to that presented to the Court in the
Receiver’s first Fee Application.

3. BINGHAM GREENEBAUM DoOLL LLP

Bingham Greenebaum Doll LLP (“BGD”) is a law firm in Kentucky that represented the
Receiver as local counsel in the Kentucky bankruptcy litigation. BGD assisted the Receiver in
staying the Kentucky bankruptcy court’s jurisdiction, if any, over the Receiver’s claims against
Jones, lifting the automatic bankruptcy stay against Jones, and clearing the way for the Receiver
to continue to pursue his claims against Jones in this Court.

In the Receiver’s Third Motion for Approval of Interim Fee Application, the Receiver
requested fees for the work performed by BGD in August 2011 until December 2011. BGD
performed work for total fees of $7,813.07. The total amount invoiced to the Receiver, which is
attached as Exhibit D, is $7,813.07.

In its April 2012 Order, the Court denied the Receiver’s request for payment of fees and

expenses billed by BGD because the invoices lacked any calculation of the amount of hours

? Because certain attorneys have left Thompson & Knight during the pendency of this case, other
attorneys have, in some cases, been utilized to perform work where necessary. Each new attorney’s rates
have been discounted by 20% in accordance with the Receiver’s agreement in this matter, and every
effort has been made to be as cost-efficient as possible in staffing.
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expended or billing rates. Thus, the Receiver again submits to the Court a request for fees of

BGD and submits fee statements of BGD, including invoices with hours and billing rates, for in

camera review.
4. Total amounts requested for disbursement from January 2012 to September
2012
Richard Roper, Receiver $12,714.32
Thompson & Knight 212,135.01
BDG 7,813.07
TOTAL $232,662.40

C. THE FEES REQUESTED BY THE RECEIVER ARE IN LINE WITH OTHER CASES.

The fees associated with complex receivership cases often have been substantial
percentages of the total assets found. SEC v. Megafund Corp., et al., 2008 WL 2839998 at *2
(N.D. Tex. 2008); SEC v. Funding Res. Group, 2003 WL 145411 at *1 (N.D. Tex. 2003). Courts
have noted that compensation to equitable receivers is analogous to compensation to receivers in
bankruptcy. See SEC v. W.L. Moody & Co., Bankers (Unincorporated), 374 F. Supp. 465, 481
(S.D. Tex. 1974), aff’d, 519 F.2d 1087 (5th Cir. 1975). The United States Department of Justice
has reported that from 1994 to 2000, in Chapter 7 asset cases, 30% —40% of total estate
receipts were disbursed as fees and expenses to trustees and other professionals. This was true
regardless of the size of the case. Id.

D. THERE ARE SUFFICIENT FUNDS ON DEPOSIT IN THE RECEIVERSHIP ESTATE TO SATISFY
THE OUTSTANDING FEES OF THE RECEIVER AND HIS PROFESSIONALS FROM
JANUARY 1, 2012 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2012, AND TO COVER ANTICIPATED FUTURE
COSTS AND EXPENSES ASSOCIATED WITH ADMINISTRATION OF THE ESTATE.

As of the filing of this Fee Application, the Estate has sufficient funds to pay all of the

Professionals’ and Receiver’s fees as requested herein. Currently, the Estate holds
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$2,995,341.72 in deposits and this Fee Application requests authority to disburse a total amount
of $232,662.40 in fees. The total deposits include those amounts obtained from certain net
winning investors as the return of fictitious interest, and additional amounts are expected to be
recovered from the litigation of fraudulent transfer claims against other net winning investors
and third parties who received funds without consideration. Indeed, the recoveries received to
date from ancillary litigation initiated by the Receiver in this case are approximately eight times
the amount requested herein in fees. This figure does not include several negotiated settlements
upon which the Receiver anticipates collection of several hundred thousand dollars in the coming
weeks and months, and does not include over $800,000 in judgments the Receiver has obtained
by not yet collected upon.

118 ANTICIPATED FUTURE WORKLOAD FOR RECEIVER
AND RETAINED PROFESSIONALS

The work of this Receivership is nearing completion. All additional work to be
undertaken, however, will be driven by (a) the costs to the Estate associated with such work; (b)
the ability of the Estate to pay for such work; and (c) the likely result to be achieved, and
proceeds to be recovered for the Estate, as a result -of such work.

The fees and expenses in the early months of this Receivership were substantial.
However, those expenses peaked at times when Professionals were engaging in the bulk of their
work, such as: forensic imaging of seized computers; review and analysis of corporate records;
the seizure, securing, and sale of Estate Assets; and the initial investigation for and litigation to
recover such assets. After these initial “peaks,” the workload of the Receiver and his
Professionals leveled out. This type of reduction is typical in receiverships. SEC v. Aquacell

Batteries, Inc., No. 6:07-cv-608-Orl-22DAB, 2008 WL 276026, *4 (M.D. Fla. Jan. 31, 2008);

RECEIVER’S FOURTH FEE APPLICATION — PAGE 22
515587 000002 Active 5266710.2



Case 7:09-cv-00050-O Document 197 Filed 11/29/12 Page 23 of 25 PagelD 2555

SEC v. W.L. Moody & Co., Bankers (Unincorporated), 374 F. Supp. 465, 486 (S.D. Tex. 1974),
aff'd, 519 F.2d 1087 (5th Cir. 1975).

The fees requested in this Application represent the work performed over a nine month
period. As the Court can see, the Receiver has been mindful of keeping fees expended to a
minimum following the significant burst of work at the inception of the Receivership, while
ensuring that the goals and needs of the Receivership, investors, and ongoing government
investigations are met. The Receiver still believes that the funds that might be available for
ultimate distribution to those with claims against the Defendants will almost certainly be far less
than anyone may have hoped for or expected. Indeed, investors stand to recover little cash on
their investments. In light of this extremely unfortunate circumstance, the Receiver and his team
continue to focus on reducing expenses while maximizing possible recoveries.

The Receiver expects that the work will continue at a reduced pace while conducting
work that is necessary and consistent with his duties. Nevertheless, in addition to the work that
still must be performed, the Receiver will likely need to address unforeseen events, crises, and
emergencies pursuant to the Court’s requirement that the Receiver prevent any irreparable loss,
damage, or injury to the Estate. Orders Appointing Receiver at § 5(g). As stated in the Report,

the Receiver anticipates that his major activities and priorities will include, or continue to

include:
. Continuing to prosecute ancillary litigation to claw back amounts into the
Receivership Estate;
o Continuing to search for and secure cash for the Estate from a variety of

potential sources including communications with and cooperation from
Wise, and determining how unaccounted-for funds were dispersed;

. Assisting, reporting to and responding to governmental and regulatory
agencies as appropriate, including inquiries from the Commission,
Department of Justice, FBI, U.S. Attorney’s Office, and the Internal
Revenue Service in connection with their investigations;
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° Communicating with this Court, investors, Defendants and Relief
Defendants, claimants, other constituents of the Estate, and the public,
including through the Receivership website; and

J Distributing the remaining Receivership Estate funds for the benefit of
defrauded investors and other claimants.

Iv. CONCLUSION

The relief requested herein is necessary and appropriate to carry out the most basic
provisions of the Orders Appointing Receiver. Accordingly, the Receiver requests that the Court
enter an order approving of the fees and expenses incurred from January 1, 2012 to September
30, 2012.

Respectfully submitted,

THOMPSON & KNIGHT, LLP
/s/ Jennifer Rudenick Ecklund

William L, Banowsky
State Bar No. 01697125

Jennifer Rudenick Ecklund
State Bar No. 24045626

Mackenzie S. Wallace
State Bar No. 24079535

1722 Routh Street

One Atrts Plaza, Suite 1500
Dallas, Texas 75201

Tel. (214) 969-1700

Fax (214) 969-1751
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
On November 29, 2012, I electronically submitted the foregoing document to the Clerk
of the Court for the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas using the
electronic case filing system of the Court. I hereby certify that I have served all counsel and/or
pro se parties of record electronically or by other manner authorized by Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 5(b)(2).

/s/ Jennifer Rudenick Ecklund
Jennifer Rudenick Ecklund
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
WICHITA FALLS DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Plaintiff,
V.
MILLENNIUM BANK,
UNITED TRUST OF SWITZERLAND S.A., Case No.: 7:09-CV-050-O
UT of S, LLC,

MILLENNIUM FINANCIAL GROUP,
WILLIAM J. WISE,
d/b/a STERLING ADMINISTRATION,
d/b/a STERLING INVESTMENT SERVICES
d/b/a MILLENNIUM AVIATION,
KRISTI M. HOEGEL, a/k/a KRISTI M.
CHRISTOPHER
a/k/a BESSY LU,
JACQUELINE S. HOEGEL, a/k/a JACQULINE S.
HOEGEL,
a/k/a JACKIE S. HOEGEL,
PHILIPPE ANGELONI, and BRIJESH CHOPRA,

Defendants,
And

UNITED T OF S, LLC, STERLING LS., LLC,
MATRIX ADMINISTRATION, LLC,

JASMINE ADMINISTRATION, LLC,

LYNN P. WISE, DARYL C. HOEGEL, RYAN D.
HOEGEL,

and LAURIE H. WALTON,

Relief Defendants.
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Richard B. Roper, III (“Receiver”) files this Report to the Court regarding the
affairs and findings of the Receivership, respectfully showing as follows:

By order dated March 26, 2009, this Court appointed Richard B. Roper as
Receiver for the assets and records of the Defendants and Relief Defendants in the above-
referenced case and all entities they own or control. The Receivership Order, and the
subsequent orders re-appointing the Receiver, direct the Receiver to prepare and submit
written periodic reports to the Court and to the parties. This Report is intended to brief
the Court on the status of matters undertaken for the benefit of the Receivership Estate.
Furthermore, the Receiver submits this request for approval of a proposed pro rata
interim distribution to investors.

L
OVERVIEW

This Receiver’s Report is the fourth substantive update to the Receivership Court
of the Receiver’s activities. Because the Receiver’s prior reports have provided
significant detail regarding the Receiver’s work in the relevant periods, rather than
repeating the extensive contents of those prior reports, each is summarized here to
provide both a summary of the Receiver’s work to date and a context for the work
performed in the last year.

A. SUMMARY OF DECEMBER 2009 RECEIVER’S REPORT

The Receiver’s Report of December 4, 2009 [Dkt. 115] (the “2009 Report™)
detailed at length the structure of the Millennium Entities and the manner in which the
fraud on the investors occurred. Essentially, Millennium Bank and its related entities
functioned as a simple Ponzi scheme, under the direction of Defendant William Wise.

Investors in the various entities purchased a “certificate of deposit” for a set term of
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years, and for a set interest rate. The “interest,” however, was fictitious, as Wise simply
paid out matured CDs with the money of new investors who believed they were also
purchasing CDs. The rest of the money was appropriated by Wise and his associates for
personal use, in the manner detailed at length later in this Report. It was never invested.
The Millennium Entities had very little corporate structure, and maintained a physical
presence in Napa, California, Raleigh, North Carolina, and offshore on the island of St.
Vincent and the Grenadines.

No actual investment of investor funds has been identified throughout the course
of the Receivership. Instead, Wise spent the money on a lavish lifestyle, literally
spending tens of millions of dollars for an island resort, airplanes and pilots, an extensive
wine collection, boats, luxury automobiles and drivers, world travel, and large sums paid
to his wife and various girlfriends, among other things. The findings of the forensic
accountants explain the misappropriation of funds as thoroughly as possible in light of
the poor recordkeeping of the Millennium businesses and the unavailability of William
Wise himself.

The first Receiver’s Report discussed tasks and matters undertaken by the
Receiver in order to satisfy his appointed duties and responsibilities, such as review,
seizure, and relinquishment of Millennium office locations; location, securing, and
liquidation of assets; review and analysis of investor claims; and many other tasks and
actions related to the litigation of claims by Defendants and Relief Defendants. The bulk
of the Receiver’s work in locating and liquidating assets had been accomplished as of the

December 2009 Report to this Court.
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B. SUMMARY OF NOVEMBER 2010 RECEIVER’S REPORT

On November 22, 2010, the Receiver filed an additional Receiver’s Report with
the Court [Doc. 147] outlining the work undertaken by the Receiver, his agents, and
representatives since the December 2009 Report (“the 2010 Report™). The 2010 Report
focused on the Receiver’s substantial work, along with his forensic accountants, to better
understand the financial activities of the Millennium Entities. This task was central to the
Receivership Estate, both becéuse it may provide insight as to how to recoup some of the
lost funds and also because the Court, along with investors and other creditors, needs a
clear explanation of what happened to those investor funds which cannot be recovered.

The Receiver obtained the assistance of forensic accounting firm Litzler, Segner,
Shaw & McKenney LLP (“LSS&M”) in order to analyze the bank deposits and
withdrawals of Millennium Bank and its sister entities (the “Millennium Entities™) in an
effort to determine how funds were used. LSS&M created a database of all the
identifiable bank transactions conducted by the Millennium Entities to allow LSS&M and
the Receiver to review the monies moving in and out of the Millennium Entities. This
database was instrumental in aiding the Receiver’s understanding of the Millennium
Entities’ financial activity. The results of an analysis of this database are covered in
significant detail in the 2010 Report.

As detailed in the 2010 Report, the work by LSS&M revealed that the investor
funds were deposited into one primary account, and that the money was appropriated by
William Wise and his associates to fund a lavish lifestyle and little more, paying off
earlier investors in order to perpetuate the scheme. At least $156.9 million was deposited
into accounts of the Millennium Entities since the Ponzi scheme’s inception. All of this
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$156.9 million is believed to have come from investor deposits, and $127.5 million can
be traced back directly to the Millennium Entities’ bank records. A detailed explanation
of the spending analysis and the accounting challenges encountered by the Receiver and
LSS&M to produce these figures is found at pages 8 to 12 of the 2010 Report.

C. SUMMARY OF APRIL 2012 RECEIVER’S REPORT

On April 9, 2012, the Receiver filed an additional Receiver’s Report with the
Court [Doc. 192] outlining the work undertaken by the Receiver, his agents, and
representatives since the November 2010 Report (“the 2011 Report™). The 2011 Report
focused on the Receiver’s work in initiating and prosecuting ancillary litigation against
various parties that benefited from illegitimate transfers from the Millennium Entities,
cooperation with government authorities, and cooperating with the St. Vincent Joint
Provisional Liquidators.

In the course of the Receiver’s work, some illegitimate transfers of funds came to
light. These transactions are deemed illegitimate because no reasonably equivalent
exchange was made by the persons/entities who received certain funds from Millennium
Bank or any of its sister entities. See SEC v. Res. Dev. Int’l, LLC, 487 F.3d 295, 301 (5th
Cir. 2007); Warfield v. Byron, 436 F.3d 551, 559 (5th Cir. 2006). Because those
transactions amount to “fraudulent transfers” under the applicable law, the Receiver
sought to recoup those funds paid out to these certain individuals through ancillary
litigation, which was prosecuted in accordance with procedures approved by the Court’s
Order Granting Receiver’s Motion to Approve Procedures for Recovery of Receivership

Assets in Third-Party Litigation [Dkt. 156].
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The Receiver commenced three ancillary suits. First, the Receiver determined
that while numerous investors have been defrauded and lost most, if not all, of their
investment in the Millennium Entities, other investors were paid back in full, with
interest (the “Net Winning Investors”). On March 1, 2011, the Receiver filed his
Original Complaint in this Court against those Net Winning Investors who did not
respond to the Receiver’s request for repayment or who refused to comply with
repayment (Cause No. 7:11-cv-00031). The Complaint named 312 Defendants and
sought more than $5,000,000 in net winnings, alleging actual and constructive fraudulent
transfer under California’s Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, unjust enrichment, and
constructive trust. The Receiver spent a considerable amount of time discussing and
settling claims with the Net Winning Investors. The Receiver also filed motions for
default judgment and motions for summary judgment against the Net Winning Investors,

Second, the Receiver’s investigation revealed that Atlanta Northside Aviation
received significant funds from the Millennium Entities during the course of the Ponzi
scheme. On March 1, 2011, the Receiver filed his Original Complaint against Atlanta
Northside Aviation (“ANA”) in this Court, Cause No. 7:11-cv-00034. The Complaint
sought to recover $800,000 from ANA, alleging Actual and Constructive Fraudulent
Transfer under Georgia’s Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, unjust enrichment, and
constructive trust. In January 2012, the Receiver filed his Motion for Summary
Judgment against ANA.

Third, the Receiver instituted suit against three of the brokers, Robert Kelty,
David Jones, and Scott Christopher, working to sell Millennium CD products over the
years. Because of their relationships with Wise and the Millennium Entities, on March 1,
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2011, the Receiver filed his Original Complaint against Jones, Kelty, and Christopher in
this Court, Cause No. 7:11-cv-00036. Jones filed for bankruptcy shortly after
commencement of the ancillary suit. The Receiver, assisted by Kentucky local counsel
Bingham Greenebaum Doll LLP (*BGD”), appeared, opposed the discharge, and the
Court ultimately stayed its jurisdiction lifting the automatic stay against Jones.

' II.
RECENT WORK UNDERTAKEN BY THE RECEIVER

Since the 2011 Report was filed, the Receiver’s work has focused on prosecuting
and collecting on the ancillary litigation against the Net Winning Investors, Atlanta
Northside Aviation, and the Brokers.

A, NET WINNING INVESTORS

The Receiver and his counsel worked diligently to resolve the litigation against
the Net Winning Investors through settlement where possible. The Receiver effectively
completed settlement of the claims against 104 of the Defendants as of April 2012 and
dismissed those who completed the terms of their settlement agreements. The Receiver
and his counsel spent significant time corresponding with investor defendants and
working to resolve the claims against them.

The Court granted summary judgment on March 29, 2012 against 16 of the
Defendants. Further, many of the Defendants failed to answer the Receiver’s complaint.
On April 9, 2012, the Court granted the Receiver’s default judgment against 57 of the
Defendants. Because all of the Net Winning Investors had settled or defaulted or
dispositive motions have been resolved in favor of the Receiver, the Court suggested that
the case be administratively closed at the April 19, 2012 pre-trial hearing. The Receiver

has collected over $1.5 million from the Net Winning Investors. The Receiver is now
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beginning the process of collecting on the default and summary judgments. The Receiver
is attempting to determine the most efficient means of collection given the scarce
resources of the Receivership Estate.
B. ATLANTA NORTHSIDE AVIATION

This Court’s ruling on the parties’ cross-motions for summary judgment found
that ANA is liable to the Receivership Estate for $445,000 in funds fraudulently
transferred to ANA prior to institution of the Receivership. Following settlement
discussions that were ultimately unconsummated, the Receiver took steps to finalize that
judgment and recover the funds for the benefit of the Receivership Estate. Since that
time, the Receiver received a partial payment on settlement, but awaits completion
according to the agreed-upon terms. The Receiver filed a Motion for Entry of Final
Judgment Against ANA on September 28, 2012. On October 12, 2012, the Court granted
the Receiver’s Motion for Entry of Final Judgment against ANA [Dkt. 40]. The Receiver
has since received full payment from ANA in settlement of his claims.
C. BROKERS

The Receiver is in the discovery phase of the litigation against the Millennium
Brokers, following his success in lifting a bankruptcy stay to be able to pursue the
litigation. Because of the bankruptcy, the Receiver’s claims against the brokers have not
moved at the same pace as the other ancillary litigation. Due to the recent developments
in the Kentucky bankruptcy court, however, the Receiver has resumed the prosecution of
his claims against the brokers, and discovery has commenced in the case.

The parties mediated the case on October 9, 2012. Defendant Robert Kelty and
the Receiver reached a tentative agreed resolution, but Defendant Scott Christopher and
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Defendant David Jones and the Receiver did not settle the claims at issue during the
mediation. Defendant Kelty completed the settlement terms and was dismissed from the
suit on November 28, 2012 [Dkt. 42]. Further, the Court has extended the discovery
period in this case to allow the Receiver to debrief William Wise (who is now in custody
and has agreed to cooperate), and to depose Scott Christopher. If the cases are not
resolved prior to the close of discovery, the Receiver anticipates filing motions for
summary judgment to resolve the case.

D. WILLIAM WISE & JACQULINE HOEGEL

On February 21, 2012, a federal grand jury returned a 23-count indictment,
charging William Wise and Jacquline Hoegel with conspiracy, mail fraud, and wire
fraud. After the arrest and initial appearance of Jacquline Hoegel, she was released on
bond.

On April 17, 2012, Wise turned himself in and appeared in court in San
Francisco. Wise has agreed as part of his plea arrangement to cooperate with the
Receiver, and the U.S. Attorney’s Office in San Francisco has agreed to make Wise
available in November or December of 2012 for the Receiver to debrief him. See
William Wise Plea Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A, The Receiver is hopeful
that Wise’s arrest will provide the Receiver with additional information about missing
money and assets, as well as to provide information necessary to resolve the still-pending

ancillary litigation.

REPORT OF THE RECEIVER DATED NOVEMBER 29, 2012 PAGE 8

AND REQUEST FOR INTERIM DISTRIBUTION
515587 000002 Active 5266685.2



Case 7:09-cv-00050-O Document 197-1 Filed 11/29/12 Page 11 of 73 PagelD 2568

III.
REMAINING TASKS

The primary tasks facing the Receiver to complete his duties are completing the
ancillary litigation, and distributing the funds to defrauded investors and other creditors.
Specifically, the Receiver will:

e Complete the Broker Litigation;

e Debrief William Wise; and

e Determine if William Wise has any remaining assets or accounts.
Concerning the ancillary litigation, the Receiver will continue pursuing the judgments
against the Net Winning Investors. The Receiver will also pursue the judgment rendered
on his behalf against Atlanta Northside Aviation. While a final distribution is not yet
possible, the Receiver would like to make some interim distribution to defrauded
investors who lost money.

IvV.
REQUEST FOR INTERIM DISTRIBUTION

A, STATUS OF LIQUIDATiON AND RECOVERY OF ASSETS

The Receiver now has $2,995,341.72 available for distribution to net winning
investors claimants. This net amount was funded from the liquidation of assets, proceeds
from settlement in the ancillary litigation, and balance of the Millennium Entities’
accounts. This does not include the $872,199.29 in judgments obtained by default and
summary judgment in the ancillary litigation against the net winning investors. In
addition to the liquidated assets, the Receiver may recover and add to the distribution

fund amounts for these judgment once they are collected upon. Further, any additional
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recoveries from the Broker Litigation or cooperation from Wise will be deposited into the
Receivership Estate for ultimate distribution.
B. ANALYSIS OF INVESTOR CLAIMS

Since the inception of the Receivership, the Receiver has actively solicited and
obtained claims and supporting documentation from those persons and investors who
believe they are owed money by Millennium Entities and/or the Individual Defendants.
At this time, 522 investors have made claims with the Receivership Estate.

The Receiver has asked investors to provide him with documents substantiating
the amount of their investment in the Millennium Entities. This process has proven to be
somewhat complex, as it is evidently difficult for some investors to sort out the money
they actually, physically deposited into CDs from fictitious interest or profits they may
have rolled over into a “new” investment. Other investors simply believe their
investment is larger than the principal they originally invested based on fictitious
accounting statements generated by Defendants and provided to the investors over time.

The Receiver has taken the following steps to identify the net losing investors (the
“Net Losing Investors”). The determination of which investors in the Millennium
Entities were net losers was performed by counsel, agents, and representatives of the
Receiver based on the review of records and databases recovered from the offices of the
Millennium Entities in seizures performed by the Receiver’s counsel, agents, and other
representatives. Based upon such, 450 of the investors who made claims lost their
principal investment in the Millennium Entities. See Net Losing Investor Distribution
Schedule, attached hereto as Exhibit B. Further, 12 investors, who made claims but did
not appear in Millennium Bank records or databases as “losing investors,” provided
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sufficient documentation to support the claim that as of January 2009 their principal was
still invested in the Millennium Entities. See Millennium Entities Statements of
Claimants, attached hereto as Exhibit C. Thus, evidence exists to substantiate that a total
of 462 claimants are also net losing investors (the “Allowed Net Losing Investor
Claims™).

Further, according to the above-described evidence, the Net Losing Investors have
a collective principal loss balance of $87,538,618.43. Although the collection and
liquidation process is still underway, the Receiver proposes an interim distribution.
C. PROPOSED DISTRIBUTION

Although the Receiver is still trying to recover more assets for the Receivership
Estate through litigation, the Receiver believes he has enough money to make a
meaningful interim distribution to the investors. The Receiver therefore proposes and
asks for authority to make an initial interim distribution of $2,262,679.22 on Allowed Net
Losing Investor Claims, on a pro rata basis. A $2,262,679.22 distribution would pay
2.59% of the total allowed claims, meaning each investor would receive 2.59% of his or
her allowed claim at this time and perhaps more in the future after the pending litigation

is concluded. The distribution amount is calculated as follows:

Distribution Percentage

Amount to be Distributed _ $2.262.679.22 _ 0
Total Allowed Claims = $87,538,61843 2.58%

The Net Losing Investor Distribution Schedule, attached hereto as Exhibit B, shows the
exact amount each approved claim would receive through this interim distribution.

All investors who made a claim and are identified on the databases maintained by
the Millennium entities have been included in the proposed Distribution Plan. The
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Receiver has been able to verify the balances due to each net losing investor from the
record previously maintained by the Millennium Entities and the Receiver’s forensic
accountants. The Receiver proposes to provide written notice to each investor, based on
the above calculations, of their net investment, which is the approved claim amount.
Each investor claimant will be advised in writing of the calculation of the claim.
D. AUTHORITIES

In the March 2009 Order Appointing Receiver, the Court found it was “necessary
and appropriate in order to prevent waste and dissipation of the assets . . . to the detriment
of the investors” to appoint the Receiver. In overseeing and administering an equitable
receivership such as the instant case, this Court’s discretion in approving the Plan is
given great deference and may be disturbed on appeal only upon the showing of an abuse
of discretion. See SEC v. Sharp Capital, Inc., 315 F.3d 541, 545 (5th Cir. 2003). The
plan of distribution proposed by the Receiver is consistent with plans approved by the
SEC in other cases. See SEC v. Great White Marina & Rec., Inc., 428 F.3d 553, 556 (5th
Cir. 2005); SEC v. Forex Asset Mgmt. LLC, 242 F.3d 325, 331 (5th Cir. 2001).

1. It is appropriate to determine the amount of investors’ losses on a cash basis,
without regard to the unpaid illusory, fictitious returns.

The investors’ losses were calculated on a “cash-in—cash-out” basis—the amount
of principal invested less any returns, fees, or other funds received by the investor.
Investors’ claims will not be increased by any “earned” but unpaid returns. Not only is
this the most efficient method of calculating loss, it is the most fair. When confronted
with similar situations and challenges to this method of establishing the loss amount,
courts have upheld this method of determining a loss as fair and reasonable. See Great

White, 428 F.3d at 556; Forex Asset, 242 F.3d at 331 (affirming trial court’s approval of
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plan that calculated each investor’s allowed claim as a percentage of their loss as
measured against the losses of all of the unpaid claimants as “fair and equitable”).

2. It is appropriate to treat all the monies recovered as a “common fund” from
which payment to all investors will be made.

The Receiver’s plan of distribution aggregates all available money into a single
fund. No effort has been made to trace any specific investor’s funds. From the earliest
Ponzi scheme cases, courts have made clear that this is almost always the most equitable
way to treat investors. Forex Asset, 242 F.3d at 331 (district court did not abuse its
discretion when it determined that, despite the fact that some of the funds available for
distribution were segregated and traceable to one investor, allowing one investor to trace
its funds and avoid a pro-rata distribution among all of the investors would be an
inequitable remedy).

The proposed distribution is consistent with the prevailing principles of equity
and comports with plans approved in other SEC receiverships. It provides a fair process
for distributing money to investors.

V.
CONCLUSION

The Receiver has devoted the bulk of his time since his last report to this Court to
attempting to recoup assets paid out to third parties as fraudulent transfers in order to
restore additional funds to the Receivership Estate. The analysis contained in this Report
represents the best possible picture of Millennium Bank’s financial affairs in light of the
extremely poor recordkeeping of the Defendants, the limitations of the bank records

provided in response to the Receiver’s subpoena, and the unavailability until now of the
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master of the scheme, William Wise. The Receiver will continue to undertake those tasks
required to faithfully and most efficiently administer the Estate.

The Receiver asks this Court to approve this interim distribution and, if necessary,
to set a hearing and then enter an order authorizing the Receiver to make the distribution
to the approved claimants consistent with Exhibit B. The Receiver asks for such other
and further relief, general or special, at law or in equity, to which he may otherwise be
entitled.

Respectfully submitted,

THOMPSON & KNIGHT, LLP

/s/ Jennifer Rudenick Ecklund

William L. Banowsky
State Bar No. 01697125

Jennifer Rudenick Ecklund
State Bar No. 24045626

Mackenzie S. Wallace
State Bar No. 25079535

1722 Routh Street

One Arts Plaza, Suite 1500
Dallas, Texas 75201

Tel. (214) 969-1700

Fax (214) 969-1751

COUNSEL FOR THE RECEIVER,
RICHARD B. ROPER
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
On November 29, 2012, I electronically submitted the foregoing document to the
Clerk of the Court for the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas

using the electronic case filing system of the Court.

/s/ Jennifer Rudenick Ecklund
Jennifer Rudenick Ecklund
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MELINDA HAAG (CABN 132612)
United States Attorney

MIRANDA KANE (CABN 150630)
Chief, Criminal Division

TRACIE L. BROWN (CABN 184339)

Assistant United States Attorney 0@ / 6 Y /!/4[

450 Golden Gate Ave., Box 36055
San Francisco, California 94102
Telephone: (415) 436-7200

Fax: (415) 436-7234

E-Mail: tracie.brown@usdoj.gov

Attorneys for Plaintiff
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, g No. CR12-111 EMC
CR 12-642 EMC
Plaintiff, )
; PLEA AGREEMENT
V.
)
WILLIAM J. WISE, ;
Defendant. %

I, WILLIAM J. WISE, and the United States Attomey’s Offices for the Northern District
of California and Eastern District of North Carolina (hereafter “the government”) enter into this
written plea agreement (the “Agreement”) pursuant to Rule 11(c)(1)(A) and 1 1(c)(1)(B) of the
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure:

The Defendant’s Promises

1. I agree to plead guilty to Counts One through Seventeen of the captioned

Indictment (Case No. CR 12-111 EMC), charging me with conspiracy to commit mail and wire

PLEA AGREEMENT
CR 12-111 EMC/CR 12-642 EMC
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fraud (Count One), in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349; mail fraud (Counts Two through Thirteen),
in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341; wire fraud (Counts Fourteen through Sixteen), in violation of

18 U.S.C. § 1343; and engaging in monetary transactions in criminally derived property (also

known as money laundering) (Count Seventeen), in violation of 18 U.S.C, § 1957. I further
agree to plead guilty to Count One of the captioned Information (Case No. CR 12-642 EMC),
charging me with evading or defeating income tax due and owing to the United States, in
violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7201.

Indictment. Counts One through Sixteen: I agree that the elements of conspiracy to

commit mail and wire fraud (Count One), in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349, are as follows: (1) I
agreed with one or more persons to commit mail or wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341
or 1343; and (2) I became a member of the conspiracy knowing of at least one of its objects and
intending to help accomplish it.

1 agree that the elements of mail fraud (Counts Two through Thirteen), in violation of 18

U.S.C. § 1341, are as follows: (1) I made up or participated in a scheme or artifice to defraud, or
to obtain money by false promises or statements; (2) I knew that the promises or statements were
false; (3) the promises or statements were material, that is, they would reasonably influence a
person to part with money or property; (4) I acted with the intent to defraud; and (5) I used, or
caused to be used the U.S. Mail or an interstate commercial carrier to carry out an essential part

of the scheme.

I agree that the elements of wire fraud (Counts Fourteen through Sixteen), in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1343, are as follows: (1) I participated in or made up a scheme or artifice to defraud,

or to obtain money by false promises or statements; (2) I knew that the promises or statements
were false; (3) the promises or statements were material, that is, they would reasonably influence
a person to part with money or property; (4) I acted with the intent to defraud; and (5) I used, or
caused to be used, a wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce

to carry out an essential part of the scheme.

I agree that the maximum penalties for each count of conspiracy to commit mail and wire

PLEA AGREEMENT

CR 12-111 EMC/CR 12-642 EMC
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fraud (Count One), mail fraud (Counts Two through Thirteen), and wire fraud (Counts Fourteen
through Sixteen), are as follows:

a Maximum prison term 20 years

b. Maximum fine $250,000 or twice the gross gain or
loss, whichever is greater

c. Maximum supervised release term 3 years

d. Restitution To Be Determined by Court

e. Mandatory special assessment $100 per count

f. Potential Deportation
n: Iagree that the elements of money laundering (Count
Seventeen), in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1957, are as follows: (1) I knowingly engagedina
monetary transaction; (2) with proceeds of a specified unlawful activity (i.e., mail or wire fraud);
(4) in an amount greater than $10,000; (5) by, through, or to a financial institution. I further
agree that the maximum penalties for money laundering are as follows:

a. Maximum prison sentence 10 years

b. Maximum fine $250,000 or twice the value
of the property involved in the
transaction, whichever is greater

c Maximum supervised release term 3 years
d. Mandatory special assessment $100
e. Restitution To Be Determined By The Court
f Potential Deportation
Information. Count Ope: I agree that the elements of evading or defeating a tax due and
owing to the United States, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7201, are as follows: (1) I had income tax
due and owing to the United States; and (2) [ willfully undertook affirmative acts to evade or
defeat the income tax. I further agree that the maximum penalties for evading or defeating a tax

due and owing to the United States are as follows:

a, Maximum prison sentence S years
b. Maximum fine $250,000
PLEA AGREEMENT

CR 12-111 EMC/CR 12-642 EMC
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c Maximum supervised release term 1 year
d. Mandatory special assessment $100
e. Restitution $1,045,250.00

f. Potential Deportation

I acknowledge that pleading guilty may have consequences with respect to my
immigration status if T am not a citizen of the United States. Under federal law, a broad range of
crimes are removable offenses, which may include the offenses to which I am pleading guilty.
Removal and other immigration consequences are the subject of a separate proceeding, however,
and [ understand that no one, including my attomey or the district court, can predict to a certainty
the effect of this conviction on my immigration status. I nevertheless affirm that I want to plead
guilty regardless of any immigration consequences that may result from my guilty plea, even if
the consequence is my automatic removal from the United States.

I understand that I am pleading guilty to multiple violations. I further understand that the
Court has discretion to order my sentence for each violation to be served concurrently or
consecutively.

2, I agree that I am guilty of the offenses to which I am pleading guilty, and I agree
that the following facts are true:

a. With respect to Count One of the Indictment (conspiracy to commit mail and wire
fraud), I agreed with my co-defendant, Jacquline Hoegel, to commit mail and wire fraud by
engaging in a long-running scheme to defraud investors by selling fraudulent certificates of
deposit (CDs) issued by three entities: (1) Millennium Bank; (2) United Trust of Switzerland
(“UT of $™); and (3) Sterling Bank and Trust (“Sterling”) (collectively, the “Millennium
Entities”). More than 1,200 investors purchased fraudulent CDs issued by the Millennium
Entities, all of which promised guaranteed rates of return that co-defendant Hoegel and I falsely
informed investors were and would be generated by overseas investments. As co-defendant
Hoegel and I both knew, the Millennium Entities did not use investor funds to make overseas

investments; instead, as we both knew, the Millennium Entities were a Ponzi scheme through

PLEA AGREEMENT
CR 12-111 EMC/CR 12-642 EMC
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which earlier investors’ guaranteed interest payments consisted of later investors’ funds. I
exercised ultimate control over the Millennium Entities, with co-defendant Hoegel acting as my
co-conspirator and right-hand person in running the scheme to defraud.

b. With respect to Counts Two through Thirteen of the Indictment (mail fraud),
along with co-defendant Hoegel, I engaged in the above-described scheme to defraud investors
via fraudulent CDs issued by the Millennium Entities. In furtherance of the scheme to defraud
investors, co-defendant Hoegel and I directed others working for the Millennium Entities to tell
certain investors to mail their account applications and personal checks (to purchase fraudulent
CDs) to the Napa, California, office run by co-defendant Hoegel. The Napa, California, office
run by co-defendant Hoegel was known by various names throughout its existence, including
Millennium Offshore Advisors, Globalized Services, and Global Advisors
(“Millennium/Global”). Millennium/Global received account applications and personal checks
via U.S. Mail as well as interstate commercial carrier, such as Federal Express. In addition, co-
defendant Hoegel and I directed Millennium/Global employees to send post-dated interest
payment checks to certain investors via U.S. Mail and interstate commercial carrier. Counts Two
through Five and Seven through Twelve represent checks sent by investors to Millennium/Global
via U.S. Mail or interstate commercial carrier. Counts Six and Thirteen represent post-dated
interest payment checks sent from Millennium/Global to investors via U.S. Mail or interstate
commercial carrier.

c. With respect to Counts Fourteen through Sixteen of the Indictment (wire fraud),
in furtherance of the above-described scheme to defraud investors, co-defendant Hoegel and I
(and others working at our direction) told certain investors to wire funds from their personal
accounts to accounts in the name of UT of S at Washington Mutual in Las Vegas, Nevada, and
Napa, California. Counts Fourteen through Sixteen represent interstate wire transfers initiated by
investors who purchased fraudulent CDs.

d. With respect to Count Seventeen of the Indictment (money laundering), knowing
that the money in the Bank of America account ending in -9544 represented proceeds of the

PLEA AGREEMENT
CR 12-111 EMC/CR 12-642 EMC
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above-described scheme to defraud investors, [ directed an employee working for
Millennium/Global to transfer $15,000 from that Bank of America account to an account in the
name of L.W., for L.W.’s personal use.

e. I agree that | knowingly participated in the above-described scheme to defraud
investors from approximately 1999 to late March 2009, and that, during this time, I intended to
defraud the investors. I further agree that between January 2004 and March 2009, via the
Millennium Entities, co-defendant Hoegel and I caused the sale of more than $129.5 million
worth of fraudulent CDs, which caused investors to suffer actual losses of more than $75 million.

£ I agree that in 2008, I earned significant income from the above-described scheme
to defraud investors, that I was aware that I had $1,045,250 of tax due and owing to the United
States based on that income, and that I willfully took affirmative steps to evade or defeat that tax
due and owing. For example, I used cash extensively, and I failed to maintain any books and
ledgers for income and expenditures, as are routinely kept in the normal course of business. In
addition, I used my income — both cash and otherwise — to pay debts owed to creditors other than
the IRS (such as making interest payments on a private jet, and paying for construction and
furnishings on a large personal property in St Vincent and the Grenadines).

3. I agree to give up all rights that I would have if I chose to proceed to trial,
including the rights to a jury trial with the assistance of an attorney; to confront and cross-
examine government witnesses; to remain silent or testify; to move to suppress evidence or raise
any other Fourth or Fifth Amendment claims; to any further discovery from the government; and
to pursue any affirmative defenses and present evidence.

4. 1 agree to give up my right to appeal my conviction, the judgment, and orders of
the Court, [ also agree to waive any right I have to appeal any aspect of my sentence, including
any orders relating to forfeiture and or restitution.

S. 1 agree not to file any collateral attack on my conviction or sentence, including a
petition under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 or 28 U.S.C. § 2241, or motion under 18 U.S.C. § 3582, at any

time in the future after I am sentenced, except that I reserve my right to claim that my counsel

PLEA AGREEMENT
CR 12-111 EMC/CR 12-642 EMC
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was ineffective in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement or the entry of my guilty
plea. Iunderstand that the government will not preserve any physical evidence obtained in this
case.

6. I agree not to ask the Court to withdraw my guilty pleas at any time after they are
entered. I understand that by entering into this Agreement: (a) I agree that the facts set forth in
Paragraph 2 of this Agreement shall be admissible against me under Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2X(A)
in any subsequent proceeding, including at trial, in the event I move to withdraw my guilty plea,
and (b) I expressly waive any and all rights under Fed. R. Crim. 11(f) and Fed. R. Evid. 410 with
regard to the facts set forth in Paragraph 2 of this Agreement in any such subsequent proceeding.

7. I agree that the Court will use the Sentencing Guidelines to calculate my sentence.
I understand that the Court must consult the Guidelines and take them into account when
sentencing, together with the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). I also understand that the
Court is not bound by the Guidelines calculations below, the Court may conclude that a higher
Guidelines range applies to me, and, if it does, I will not be entitled, nor will I ask to withdraw
my guilty plea. Ialso agree that regardless of the sentence that the Court imposes on me, [ will
not be entitled, nor will I ask, to withdraw my guilty plea. I further agree that the Sentencing
Guidelines offense level will be calculated as follows, and that I may seek a possible downward
departure pursuant to U.S.S.G . § SK1.1. Ialso reserve my right to argue for a variance from the
Guidelines range determined by the Court based on 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) factors, and I
understand that the government may oppose that argument. The parties have reached no
agreement regarding my Criminal History Category.

. a Base Offense Level, U.S.8.G. § 2B1.1(a)(1): 7
b. ?}Jeciﬁc offense characteristics (loss over $50 million,
.S.8.G. §2BL.1(b)(1H(M)): +24
c. lS}aeciﬁc offense characteristics (>250 victims,
.S.8.G. § 2BL.1(b)2XC)): +6
d. Leader/organizer (U.S.S.G. § 3B1.1(a)): +4

e. 18 U.S.C. § 1957 conviction (U.S.S.G §2S1.1(b)}(2)(A)):  +1

PLEA AGREEMENT
CR 12-111 EMC/CR 12-642 EMC
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f. Acceptance of Responsibility: If I meet the requirements of U.S.S.G.
iﬁ Egntrtlhrough sentencing, I may be entitled to a three-level 3
g Adjusted Offense Level: 39
I understand that regardless of the sentence that the Court imposes on me, I will not be entitled,
nor will | ask, to withdraw my guiity pleas.

8. I agree that regardless of any other provision of this Agreement, the government
may and will provide the Court and the Probation Office with all information relevant to the
charged offenses and the sentencing decision.

9. I agree to pay restitution for all the losses caused by all the schemes or offenses
with which I was charged in this case, and I agree that the amount of restitution will not be
limited to the loss attributable to the counts to which I am pleading guilty, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 3663(a)(3). Iagree to pay restitution in an amount to be set by the Court, for all losses suffered
by victims of the above-described scheme to defraud investors, even for those victims not
specifically referenced in Counts Two through Sixteen of the Indictment, I agree that any fine,
forfeiture, or restitution imposed by the Court against me will be immediately due and payable
and subject to immediate collection by the government and I understand that the government may
seek immediate collection of the entire fine, forfeiture, or restitution from any assets without
regard to any schedule of payments imposed by the Court or established by the Probation Office.
I agree that I will make a good faith effort to pay any fine, forfeiture, or restitution I am ordered
to pay. Before or after sentencing, I will upon request of the Court, the government, or the
Probation Office, provide accurate and complete financial information, submit sworn statements
and give depositions under oath concerning my assets and my ability to pay, surrender assets I
obtained as a result of my crimes, and release funds and property under my control in order to
pay any fine, forfeiture, or restitution. Iagree to pay the special assessment at the time of
sentencing.

10,  Iagree to cooperate with the U.S. Attorney’s Office before and after I am
sentenced. My cooperation will include, but will not be limited to, the following:

PLEA AGREEMENT
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a. I will respond truthfully and completely to any and all questions put to me,
whether 1n interviews, before a grand jury, or at any trial or other proceeding;

b. I will provide all documents and other material asked for by the government;
c. I will testify truthfully at any grand jury, court, or other proceeding as requested

by the government;

d. I will surrender any and all assets acquired or obtained directly or indirectly as a
result of my illegar conduct;

e. I will request continuances of my sentencing date, as necessary, until my
cooperation is completed;

f. I will not reveal my cooperation, or any information related to it, to anyone

without prior consent of the government;

g I will participate in undercover activities under the supervision of law
enforcement agents or the U.S. Attorney's Office; an

h. I will provide all necessary authorizations for the Receiver, Richard R

(?ppomted by the Northern District of Texas in SEC v. Millennium Bank, et

al., 7:09-cv-00050-0), to obtain control over all funds remaining in any accounts
identified by the government or the Receiver as having investor funds, whether
those accounts are located in the United States or foreign countries. I further
agree that I will sign a Power of Attorney in favor of the Receiver within 10 days
of being so requested, and will work in good faith with the government and/or the
Receiver to identify any such accounts, wherever located.

11, Iagree that the government’s decision whether to file a motion pursuant to
U.S.S.G. § 5K1.1, as described in the government promises section below, is based on its sole
and exclusive decision of whether I have provided substantial assistance and that decision will be
binding on me. I understand that the government’s decision whether to file such a motion, or the
extent of the departure recommended by any motion, will not depend on whether convictions are
obtained in any case. I also understand that the Court will not be bound by any recommendation
made by the government.

12.  1agree not to commit or attempt to commit any crimes before sentence is imposed

or before I surrender to serve my sentence. I also agree not to violate the terms of my pretrial

|| release; not to intentionally provide false information to the Court, the Probation Office, Pretrial

Services, or the government; and to comply with any of the other promises 1 have made in this
Agreement. | agree that if I fail to comply with any promises I have made in this Agreement,
then the government will be released from all of its promises in this Agreement, including those
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set forth in the Government’s Promises Section below, but I will not be released from my guilty
pleas. Iagree to remain in the custody of the United States Marshal pending my sentencing. I
further agree that I will not apply for a transfer to serve part of my sentence in Canada until I
have served at least 1/3 of my sentence or 54 months in the United States (running from the date
I entered into federal custody, April 16, 2012), whichever is longer.

13.  IfI am prosecuted after failing to comply with any promises I made in this
Agreement, then (a) I agree that any statements I made to any law enforcement or other
government agency or in Court, whether or not made pursuant to the cooperation provisions of
this Agreement, may be used in ;my way; (b) I waive any and all claims under the United States
Constitution, Rule 11(f) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 410 of the Federal
Rules of Evidence, or any other federal statute or rule, to suppress or restrict the use of my
statements, or any leads derived from those statements; and (c) I waive any defense to any
prosecution that is barred by a statute of limitations, if the limitations period has run between the
date of this Agreement and the date I am indicted. In return for the government’s promises set
out below, I agree that the government may reinstate all of the dismissed counts and include any
other charges by superseding indictment should my case be remanded to district court following
an appeal for any reason. I further agree that any applicable statute of limitations that has not run
as of the date the Agreement was signed for any charge arising out of the Northern District of
California shall be tolled and extended from that date until the date that the mandate is spread in
the district court from any such appeal.

14,  1agree that this Aéreement contains all of the promises and agreements between
the government and me, and supersedes any other agreements, written or oral. No modification
of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by all parties.

15.  Iagree that the Agreement binds the U.S. Attorney’s Offices for the Northern
District of California and Eastern District of North Carolina only, and does not bind any other
federal, state, or local agency.

1

V n mi
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16.  The government agrees to move to dismiss any open charges pending against the
defendant in the captioned Indictment and Information at the time of sentencing. The
governmeﬁt further agrees that it will not oppose the defendant’s application for a transfer to
serve part of his sentence in Canada, provided that the defendant does not breach any terms of
this Agreement, including his promise not to apply for such a transfer until he has served at least
1/3 of his sentence or 54 months in the United States (running from the date he entered into
federal custody, April 16, 2012), whichever is longer. The government further agrees that, if
asked, it may provide publicly-available information to Canadian authorities, but that it will not
take a position on whether the defendant, if transferred to Canada to serve any remaining
sentence, should be paroled under applicable Canadian statutes and regulations.

17.  The government agrees not to file any additional charges against the defendant
that could be filed as a result of the investigation that led to the captioned Indictment and
Information.

18,  The government agrees to recommend the Guideline calculations set out above
unless the defendant violates the terms of the Agreement above or fails to accept responsibility.

19.  The government agrees not to use any statements made by the defendant pursuant
to this Agreement against him, unless the defendant fails to comply with any promises in this
Agreement.

20.  If, in its sole and exclusive judgment, the government decides that the defendant
has cooperated fully and truthfully, provided substantial assistance to law enforcement authorities
within the meaning of U.S.S.G. § 5K1.1, and otherwise complied fully with this Agreement, it
will file with the Court a motion under § SK1.1 and/or 18 U.S.C. § 3553 that explains the nature
and extent of the defendant’s cooperation and recommends a downward departure.

The Defendant’s Affirmations

21.  Iconfirm that I have had adequate time to discuss this case, the evidence, and the
Agreement with my attorney and that my attorney has provided me with all the legal advice that I
requested.
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22, ‘I confirm that while I considered signing this Agreement, and at the time I signed
it, I was not under the influence of any alcohol, drug, or medicine that would impair my ability to
|| understand the Agreement.

23,  Iconfirm that my decision to enter a guilty plea is made knowing the charges that
have been brought against me, any possible defenses, and the benefits and possible detriments of
proceeding to trial. I also confirm that my decision to plead guilty is made voluntarily, and no
one coerced or threatened me to enter into this Agreement.

Dated: S~&, ]il LNL

WILLIAM J.
Defendant

MELINDA HAAG
United States Attorney

o A L Oele of

TRACIE L. BRO
Assistant United States Attorney

Dated:

24.  Ihave fully explained to my client all the rights that a criminal defendant has and
all the terms of this Agreement. In my opinion, my client understands all the terms of this
Agreement and all the rights my client is giving up by pleading guilty, and, based on the

information now known to me, my client’s decision to plead guilty is knowing and voluntary.

Dated: qﬁ"’ln
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EXHIBIT C



—v""Péafc,Z 7:08:0v00050-0 Dotuman 167 Filed 11/29/12 Page 537 pagelD 2602 P+ 5

- Statement | Premium

‘Ariel LTD
-_200 No, Temperance

v it e 1y ® e i+ A s e
H

Fowler, CA 93625

Account Number P 21355 Principle Invested $175,000.00
Statement Dagte 1/1/2009 Term 3 Year
Issue Date 2/16/2006 APY, ‘ 10,500
Code . - 10410 - . Starting Balance $226,494.29
Mornth Ending| __Principle____| Compound Rate] __Imterest | Total
October 15 $226,494.29 T 0.8368%,). .- $1,89240 ' $228,386.69
"I November 15 ' $228,386.69 0.836% ) $1,908.21  $230,294.80
December 15 $230,294.90 | 0.836% $1,924.15 $232,219.05
Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$5,724.76 §57,219.05 $232,219.05
Note

i

T

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137




GARY ALLOI 5598341956 . B
Cabe 708 cv-oc?oso 0 “Bocument107-1 Filed 11729/12 Page 46 of 73 PageID 2603

Statement | Premium

Ardel LTD
200 No. Temperauce _ N L . |
Fowler, CA 93625 C o . e e

Account Number P 21237 , Principle Invested  $25,000.00
~ Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 3 Year

Issue Date 7/10/2006 APY, 12.500

Code 10410 Starting Balance $32,267.88

Month Ending Principle Compaund Rate Interest Total
October 8 $32,287.88 0.886% $318.28 $32,586.16
November 9 o $32,586.16 0.986% $321.42 - $32,807.58
December 9 $32,807.58 0.986% $324.59 $33,232.16

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$964.29 $8,232.16 “$33,232.16
Note

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137

LN
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Statement

Calavachio & ONeal LV. IST DPTD31008 Calavachio

. 1323 DoverRd. NP S

Panama City, FL. 32404 T T T T T
USA K

Account Number 50534 Principle Invested  '$160,865.99

Statement Date 1/1/2609 Term 2 Year

Issue Date 10/30/2008 APY. 8.600

Code 10410 Starting Balance  $160,865.99

Month Ending| Principle ‘Compound Rate Initerest ‘ Total

November 29 $160,865.99 | 0.690% $1,100.78 $161,975.77
December29 |  $161,975.77 | 0.690% $1,117.44 $163,093.21

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date: Ending Balance
$2,227.22 $2,227.22 1 $163,093.21
Note

.

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call (888) 565-0137

LI
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atement

Aren R Duncan

614 Jones Street

Madisonville, KY 42431 o

USA ,

Account Numb”ﬂ! D Principle Invested  $10,000.00

Statement Date 1/172009 Term 5 Years

Issue Date 2/19/2007 APY. 9,000

Code 11221 Starting Balance $11,461.95

Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest Total }
October 18 $11,461.95 0.721% $62.61 $11,544.56 |
November 18 $11,544.56 0.721% $83.21 $11,627.77
December 18 $11,627.77 0.721% $83.81 $11,711.57 '

Interest This Quarter Interes ate Endi lance

Foe omee - )

: \_', :

| $249.63 // & $1,711.57 ) Tsn,m.m) '

Note

e

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call (888) 565-0137

v
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Statement | | ' | Premt um

Margaret C, Jarvis Living Trast
12 Mulbenry Ave.
Celebration, FL. 34747

Aceournt Number P 22799 Principle Invested  $180,000.00

Statemient Date 1/1/2009 Term 1 Year

Issue Date 6/23/2008 APY. 10.000

Code 10414 Starting Balance $184,340.46
Erlling| __ Principle ___|Compound Rate] ___ Interest ' Total

Octab $184,340.48 { 0.797% | $1,469.96 $185,810.42.

'November 22 $185,810:42 0.797% | $1,481.68 $187,292,10

| December 22 $187,262.10 0.797% $1,493.49 $188,785.59
Imterest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance

$4,445.13 $8,785.59 $188,785.59
Note

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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Statement

Retzremém

+

Mlllennmm Bank

Provzdmg our clzents the power of global mvestzng

Miﬂemiium Trust Co.LLC FBO: Jeffery Klienman

316 IVY HILL COURT

JERICHO,NY 11753-1217 -

usa -

Account Number 51576 Principle Invested  $12,456.44

Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term . 10 Years

Issue Date 1/612003 ALY 6.750

Code 10410 Starting Balance $17,938.30

| Dae Transaction _ Debits Credits Balance
110/6/2008 _|Applied Interest 0000 39791 _$18,036.21
11/6/2008 _{Applied Interest $0.00 $98.44 $18,134.65 .
‘12/6/2008 Applied Interest $0.00 $98.98 $18,233.64 -
i Total Debits to Date Total Interest to Date g Ending Balance

$0.00 §5,777.20 g $18,233.64

% .
Note

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-776-7720



StaderniedPicv-00050-0 Document 197-1 Filed 11/29/12 Page 51 of 73 PagelDrgliginm

Jefiley Kleinman
316 Ivy Hill Cour
Jericho, NY 11753

Account Nwmber ~ P23074 . ‘ Principle Invested  $20,500.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 1 Year
Issue Date 12/872008 APRY. . 10,000
Code 10410 ' Starting Balance $20,500.00

1

\Month Ending|
i January 7
'

}...,__..._-__*_M_,._a

L

Principle Compound Rate Interest S PR :
$20,500.00 L 0.T97%, 318347 52066347 |

B PSR

o core e g e

S P
i
i
i
%

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date i Ending Balance

e et Ay g i o e M 5 et P A

$163.47 $163.47

$20,663.47

i
|
§

i e i

Note

P Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-01 37
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Premium

MARGARET LENTZ .

14150 NE20 th. Street # 488

BELLEVUE, WA 98007 -

USA

Account Number P21142 Principle Invested  $90,000.00

Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 5 Years

Issue Date 1/17/2006 APY. 8.000

Cade 10410 Starting Balance $110,502.61

Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest Total

October 16 $110,502.61 0.643% $710.98 $111,213.58
November 16 $111,213.58 0.843% $715.66 $111,929,14
December 16 $111,820.14 0.643% $720.16 $112,649.29

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$2,146.69 $22,649.29 $112,649.29
Note

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137




-

LA, s »

Merrick & Margaret Lentz
14150 NE 20 th. St. # 488
Bellevue, WA 98007

P 21257

D it b

Account Number Principle Invested  $150,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 10 Years
Issue Date 4/28/2006 APY. 9.800
Code 10410 Starting Balance $188,024.13
Month Endi Principle Compound Rate Interest Total
October 27 $188,024.13 0.782% $1,470.58 $189,484.72 |
November 27 $189,484.72 . " 0.782% " $1,482.09 $190,976.81
December 27 $190,978.81 0.782% $1,493.89 $192,470.50
Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$4,446.36 $42,470.50 $192,470.50
Note

LN

e "

-

B = Sl KA o TR i L WA,

Questions Concerning this Stateme(tt? Call 888-565-0137

s TN
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Statement Premium

Shyam Pathak Living Trust
4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 21242 Principle Invested  $100,000.00

Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 2 Year

Issue Date 7/10/2007 APY. 12,000

Code 10414 Starting Balance $114,135.57

Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Iﬁterest 7 " Total -

October 9 $114,135.57 0.949% $1,083.01 . %115.218.58

November 9 $115,218.58 0.949% $1,09329 | $116,311.87

December 9 $116,311.87 | 0.949% $1,103.66  $117,41553 |
Interest This Quarter . Total Interest to Date Ending Balance

$3,279.96 $17,415.53 $117,415.53 f
Note _ i e

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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.slatement

Premium

OF SWITZERLAND, SA

Shyam Pathak Living Trust
4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 21307 Principle Invested  $100,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 3 Year
Issue Date 8/3/2006 APY. 12.000
Code 10414 Starting Balance $126,630.27
Month Ending Principle  |Compound Rate Ingerest Total -
October 2 $126,630.27 0.949% $1,201.57 $127,831.84 ;
November 2 $127,831.84 0.949% $1,212.97 $129,044.81
December 2 $129,044.81 0.949% $1,224.48 $130,269.29 |
Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$3,639.02 $30,269.29 $130,269.29
Nore S . b s — et 441 B W
|
e

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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vlatement

xgelD 261%/”
Premium

ZERL

ke

Shyam Pathak Living Trust
4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 22267 Principle Invested  $300,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 2 Year
Issue Date 2/14/2008 A.P.Y. 10.000
Code 10414 Starting Balance $317,151.66
Month Ending 7 Principle Compound Rate Interest Total «___ ]
October 13 $317,151.66 0.797% " $2,529.01 $31 9,68057‘?
November 13 $319,680.67 0.797% $2,549.18 $322,229.85 |
December 13 $322,229.85 0.797% $2,569.51 $324,799.36 '
Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance ]
$7,647.70 $24,799.36 $324,799.36 |
Note ) L _

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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bt oy i rem

Statement

4 vt t——— it

SHYAM M. PATHAK Living Trust

4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 22269 Principle Invested  $250,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 2 Year
Issue Date 2/17/2008 APY. 10.000
Code 10414 Starting Balance $264,293.05
| Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest ) Total
October 16 $264,293.05 0.797% $2,107.61 | $266,400.56
November 16 $266,400.56 | 0.797% $212432| $268,524.87
| December 16 $268,524.87 0.797% $2,141.26 $270,666.13
Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$6,373.09 $20,666.13 $270,666.13
—
Note T P A e e RS e s e—— S S——

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137



SHYAM M. PATHAK Living Trust
4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 22472 Principle Invested ~ $325,000.00

Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 2 Year

Issue Date 2/22/2008 APY, 10.000

Code 10414 Starting Balance $343,580.96

Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest Total | .
October 21 $343,580.96 0.797% $2,739.76 | $346,320.73 |
November 21 $346,320.73 0.797% $2,761.61 o $349,082_~.~§4_:
December 21 $349,082.34 0.797% $2,783.63 $351,865.97 .

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance '
$8,285.00 $26,865.97 $351,865.97
Note

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 838-565-0137
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Premium

Statement

Ajay Pathak
4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 21581 Principle Invested  $100,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 3 Year
Issue Date 2/21/2007 AP.Y. 12,000
Code 10414 Starting Balance $119,654.36
Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest Total _|
October 20 $119,654.36 0.949% $1,135.38 $120,789.74 |
November 20 $120,789.74 0.949% $1,146.15 ‘ $121,935.89 |
December 20 $121,935.89 0.949% $1,157.02 $123,092.91
Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance ;
$3,438.55 $23,092.91 $123,092.91 |
S
Note o .
g
i
I
1
|

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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S‘tatement Premium

UNITED TRUST OF SWITZERLAND, SA

Ajay Pathak
4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 23027 Principle Invested  $150,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 1 Year
Issue Date 10/24/2008 APY. 7.000
Code 10414 Starting Balance $150,000.00
Month Ending | Principle -|Compound Rate Interest —__To_tt;l _;__—_"
November 23 $150,000.00 0.565% $848.12 | $150,848.12 ‘l
December 23 $150,848.12 0.565% $852.92 L $151,701.04
Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance l
$1,701.04 $1,701.04 $151,701.04 |
N0te rm—— A ——  —— 1)

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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o

Premium

- . B e T

Statement

L UnNITED TRUST OF SWITZERLAND, SA

Swati Pathak
4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 21199 Principle Invested  $100,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 4 Years

Issue Date 2/24/2006 APY. 12.000

Code 10414 Starting Balance $134,012.89

Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest Total ,
October 23 $134,012.89 | 0.949% $1.271.62 $135,284.51
November 23 $135,284.51 0.949% $1,283.69 $136,568.19
December 23 $136,568.19 | 0.949% $1,205.87 $137,864.06

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$3,851.18 $37,864.06 $137,864.06
Note

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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Stetement

Premium

T OF SWITZERLAND, S8

Swati Pathak
4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 23026 Principle Invested  $150,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 1 Year

Issue Date 10/24/2008 APY. 7.000

Code 10414 Starting Balance $150,000.00

Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest Total
November 23 $150,000.00 0.565% $848.12 $150,848.12
December 23 $150,848.12 0.565% $852.92 $151,701.04

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$1,701.04 $1,701.04 $151,701.04
Note

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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Sttement

Premium

LITDITED TRIIST ¢

PATHAK Irrevocable Trust
4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 22474 Principle Invested  $550,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 1 Year
Issue Date 2/22/2008 APY. 10.000
Code 10414 Starting Balance $581,444.71
Month Ending Principle | Compound Rate Interest Total B
'October 21 $581,444.71 0.797%| $4,636.52 $586,081.23
November 21 $586,081.23 - 0.797% $4,673.49 $590,754.72
December 21 $580,754.72 0.797% $4,710.76 $595,465.49
Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$14,020.77 $45,465.49 $595,465.49 ;
Note
T

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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Statement

Kalindi Pathak Living Trust
4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 22270 Principle Invested  $300,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 2 Year
Issue Date 2/14/2008 APLY. 10.000
Code 10414 Starting Balance $317,151.66
Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest Total ;
October 13 $317,151.66 0.797% $2,529.01 .. $319,68067
November 13 $319,680.67 0.797% $2,549.18 . $322,229.85
December 13 $322,229.85 0.797% $2,569.51 $324,799,36
Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Endmg Balance
$7,647.70 $24,799.36 $324,799. 36 .
Note e
( . ——

Questions Concerning this Statement? Coll 888-565-0137
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7

Statement

T T T S U OO

Premium

UNITED TRUST OF SW

=RLAND, SA

KALINDI S. PATHAK Living Trust

4083 Faroway Lane

Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 22272 Principle Invested  $300,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 2 Year
Issue Date 2/17/2008 A.P.Y. 10.000
Code 10414 Starting Balance $317,151.66
\Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest _‘I_jq_lg{“ o
October 16 $317J_1 51.66 0.797% $2,529.01 $319,680.67
November 16 $319,680.67 0.797% $2,5649.18 $322,229.85
December 16 $322,229.85 0.797% $2,569.51 $324,799.36 '
Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$7,647.70 $24,799.36 $324,799.36 i
Note ——
|
|

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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P o

;S'tatemuén't‘-

B T

Premium

HTED TROST OF SDWITZERLAND,

KALINDI S. PATHAK Living Trust

4083 Faroway Lane
Richfield, OH 44286

Account Number P 22473 Principle Invested  $325,000.00
Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 2 Year

Issue Date 2/22/2008 A.P.Y. 10.000

Code 10414 Starting Balance $343,580.96

Month Ending 'Priuciple‘ Compound Rate Interest Total | o
October 21 $343,680.96 0.797%| $2,739.76 $346,320.73

| November 21 $346,320.73 0.797% $2,761.61 _ $349,082.34
December 21 $349,082.34 0.797% $2,783.63 $351,865.97

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$8,285.00 $26,865.97 $351,865.97
Note
- . -

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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Premium

Stan & Carie Pierson

411 Cheyenne Drive
Raymore, Mo 64083

Account Number P 22646 Principle Invested  $5,000.00

Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term "7 5Years

Issue Date 4/23/2008 APY. 7.250

Code 11221 Starting Balance $5,147.96

Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest Total

October 22 $65,147.96 0.585% $30.11 $5,178.08
November 22 $5,178.08 0.585% $30.29 $5,208.37
December 22 $5,208.37 0.585% $30.47 $5,238.84 |

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance
$90.87 $238.84 $5,238.84
Note

ae

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137
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v e e E pmeesers b n - . .

jtatement

Filed 11/29/12 Page 68 of 73 PagelD 2625

 PO.Box12 -

Janet Louise Shultz

P - . . b ee =

Carver, MN 55315

USA L

Account Number 28624 Principle Invested  $50,000.00

Statement Date 1/1/2009 Term 4 Years

Issue Date 5/17/2004 A.P.Y. 9.400

Code 10410 Starting Balance $70,030.13

Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest Total - ~ _{
March 16 $70,030.13 0.751% $526.26 . 87055640
April 16 $70,556.40 0.751% $530.22 $71,086.62
May 16 $71,086.62 0.751% $534.20 $71,620.82 |

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance }
$1,590.68 $21,620.82 $71,620.82
Note

- e

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call (388) 565-0137

L LN
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Statement Premium

G. Lane Teaff

for: Carly Breann Ritchey.
Lubbock, TX 79424

Account Number P 21243 Principle Invested  $25,525.00

Statement Date 1/12009 Term % Years

Issue Date 7/20/2606 ALY 9.000

Code 10414 Starting Balance $30,764.97

Month Ending Principle Compound Rate Interest Total
October 19 $30,764.97 0.721% $221.73 $30,986.70 |
November 19 | v $30,966.70 0.721% $223.33 $31,210.03 |
December 19 $31,210.03 0.721%| $224.94 $31,434.98 |

Interest This Quarter Total Interest to Date Ending Balance |
$670.00 $5,909.98 $31,434.98
_Note

Questions Concerning this Statement? Call 888-565-0137

e,
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Statement Retirement

Aevalon TrestCia. LLC FHOE: Yogyy 3o Tomuge
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o
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THOMPSON & KNIGHT LLP

AUSTIN
DALLAS
ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELORS FORT WORTH
HOUSTON
NEW YORK
ONE ARTS PLAZA SAN ANTONIO
1722 ROUTH STREET » SUITE 1500
DALLAS, TEXAS 75201-2533 ALGIERS
(214) 969-1700 LONDON
FAX (214) 969-1751 MEXICO CITY
www.tklaw.com MONTERREY
TAX ID No. 75-2813604 PARIS
WWW.TKLAW.COM
September 30, 2012
Millennium Bank, et al
Richard Roper, Receiver
Thompson & Knight
1722 Routh Street, Suite 1500
Dallas, Texas 75201
INVOICE SUMMARY
For Services Rendered Through Septémber 30,2012
Our Matter # 515587.000002
RECEIVERSHIP
Fees for Professional SErvICES* ........ccovveercrrsrereinressreerresssisssnenseseens $ 5,880.00
ReIMbBUISable COSIS ....cccvviverreerriirrieenniesiersersresersiessessesiesiesansavessrsaesses 6,834.32
Net Current Billing For This Matter ........c.ccomvvrecerirermemmersresininrmmsnesnnnssiseisnnns s 12,714.32

*Reflects 20% discount on gross fees for professional services.

515587 000002 Active 5273383.1
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LLP September 30, 2012

SUMMARY OF WORK PERFORMED TO DATE

Initial Analysis

Coordination of resources and establishment of protocols for locating, securing and creating inventory of
Receivership Assets and Records

Consultation and coordination with the SEC, the Department of Justice, and the US Marshals Service
regarding initial location and collection of Receivership Assets and Records

Inspect and secure Raleigh office; inspect and secure Wise residence
Engage counsel and put team of attorneys and other professionals into place

Cooperation, communication, and coordination with Securities and Exchange Commission
Oversee identification and securitization of real and personal property
Communication with St. Vincent government and Joint Provisional Liquidators appointed there

Analysis of bankruptcy concerns

Securing of Offices

Oversaw and directed securing of offices in Napa, California and Raleigh, North Carolina

Coordinated with local law enforcement in North Carolina and California

Oversaw process of securing Receiver’s jurisdiction in various states where property is or was believed to
be located

Oversaw analysis of Receivership records and equipment

Fielded and responded to communications from Defendants’ vendors regarding leased office equipment
and office contracts

Performed a thorough search of Raleigh office and home and oversaw same in California

Communication with Vendors, Employees and Customers

Fielded and responded to communications and inquiries from Defendants’ vendors regarding retrieval of
leased office equipment, status of office service contracts, and liens against real and personal property

Fielded and responded to communications and inquiries from Defendants’ employees and Relief
Defendants

Fielded and responded to communications from investors, media, Department of Justice, United States
Attorneys, and other interested parties regarding case status and access to records

Engaged forensic accountants and conferred with them to develop plan for handling and review of data

Liguidation of Assets

Oversaw engagement of appraisers and auctioneers

515587 000002 Active 5273383.1
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LLP September 30, 2012

Oversaw cataloguing of property seized from Defendants
Reached resolution and obtained Court authority regarding sale and surrender of assets

Oversaw preparation of evidence and motions and participated in evidentiary hearings concerning sales of
seized property

Negotiated and closed sales of real and personal property, including Wise’s North Carolina residence and
Hoegel property in California

Oversaw auction of Wise personal property in Raleigh, North Carolina

Management of Third-Party and Pending Litigation

Oversaw search for pending pre-Receivership litigation and arbitration matters

Analyzed strategy and options for proceeding with third party lawsuits including claw backs, fraudulent
transfers, and disgorgement

Fielded inquiries and responded to issues raised by non-parties and unrelated counsel related to pre-
Receivership litigation

Oversaw discovery, including subpoena of records pertinent to Defendants and their business and personal
and corporate finances

Participated in evidentiary hearings, established basis for Court’s finding that Defendants did conduct a
Ponzi scheme since at least 2004

Advancement of Ancillary Litigation

Oversaw filing of third party lawsuits against net winning investors, Atlantic Northside Aviation, and the
brokers to recover funds for Receivership Estate

H

Communicated with hundreds of net winning investors to collect funds for Receivership Estate

Engaged in settlement negotiations with hundreds of net winning investors to recover over $900,000 in
funds for Receivership Estate

Oversaw discovery, preparation of motions, and settlement of ancillary litigation

Miscellaneous

Oversaw investigation and asset search and recovery efforts
Communicated and negotiated with counsel for Defendants and Relief Defendants
Analyzed and implemented case management strategy

Communicated with investors and reviewed correspondence and materials submitted by investors and
began process of analyzing claims against the Estate and procedures for handling same

Provided extensive cooperation to various government authorities and agencies, including the SEC, DOJ,
FBI and IRS

Oversaw work of forensic accountants and analysis of results

Provided periodic reports to the Court and investors

515587 000002 Active 5273383.1
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THOMPSON & KNIGHT Page 4
LLP September 30, 2012
SUMMARY OF FEES
Discounted
Name Title Hours Rate/Hr Amount
Richard Roper Receiver 14.00 | $420.00 | $5,880.00 |
Reimbursable Costs

Air fare, lodging, ground transportation, and other vendors (e.g., locksmiths, utility providers, vehicle storage)
to complete work performed:

Total REIMDBUISADIE COSS ...o.cevvuvirmreerreernreariesriesreesaeseesassssenssvisesssesssessessenssssensassees $ 6,834.32
TOTAL CURRENT FEES AND COSTS FOR THIS MATTER¥ .......cooivinireenrrcnerrecnesressneseenens $  12,714.32
NET CURRENT BILLINGS FOR THIS MATTER......ccccoerirerrrrimtressrssseservesressensseessssesssssoserassssseses $ 1271432

*Reflects 20% discount on gross fees for professional services

515587 000002 Active 5273383.1
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TAXID No, 75-2813604
WWW.TKLAW.COM

Millennium Bank, et al
Richard Roper, Receiver
Thompson & Knight

1722 Routh Street, Suite 1500
Dallas, Texas 75201

Document 197-3 Filed 11/29/12 Page 2 of 7 PagelD 2637

THOMPSON & KNIGHT LLP

ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELORS

ONE ARTS PLAZA
1722 ROUTH STREET » SUITE 1500
DALLAS, TEXAS 75201-2533
(214) 969-1700
FAX (214) 989-1751
www.tklaw.com

INVOICE SUMMARY

For Services Rendered Through September 30, 2012

Our Matter # 515593.000002

REPRESENTATION OF RECEIVER

Matter Balance Brought Forward

Total Fees for Professional Services*

Net Fees for Professional Services *¥ .......ocoiv v veveicnnvnnnnenecrnressenees

Reimbursable Costs

Net Current Billing For This Matter **
Total Balance Due This Matter

*Reflects 20% discount on gross fees for professional services.
**Net of time recorded, but not billed, for preparation of Fee application, Receiver’s Report, and certain paralegal

time.

515593 000002 Active 5273384.1

................................................

AUSTIN
DALLAS

FORT WORTH
HOUSTON
NEW YORK

ALGIERS
LONDON
MEXICO CITY
MONTERREY
PARIS

RIO DE JANEIRO
SAO PAULO
VITORIA

September 30, 2012

$ 0.00

231,417.20
208,664.40
3,470.61

....................... $ 212.135.01
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SUMMARY OF WORK PERFORMED

Initial Analysis

Coordination of resources and establishment of protocols for locating, securing and creating inventory of
Receivership Assets and Records

Research regarding existence of offices to be closed

Consultation and coordination with the SEC, the Receiver, the Department of Justice and the US Marshals
Service regarding initial location and collection of Receivership Assets and Records

Close offices, secure and transfer records and interview employees and unrepresented Defendants

Research regarding and confirmation of filings under 28 U.S.C. §754 in each jurisdiction where
Thompson & Knight LLP secured Receivership Assets and file same

Identify and secure real and personal property
Analysis of bankruptcy concerns

Review and analyze seized records and equipment

Securing of Offices

Secured for the Receiver offices in Napa, California and Raleigh, North Carolina

Coordinated with local law enforcement, where necessary, and property management for access to each
office location; changed locks and disabled electronic access where in use; coordinated with property
management and private security, where necessary, to assure future access was limited to the Receiver or
his representatives

Prepared detailed written and photographic inventories of assets in each location

Coordinated with Defendant employees for monitored retrieval of personal items from Defendant offices

Compiled report containing personal contact information, computer user names and passwords and voice-
mail passwords of employees from each office

Identified and interviewed employees regarding office operations and the location of Receivership assets
and records

Analyzed Receivership records and compiled preliminary list of accounts, players, and company structure

Compiled inventories of all electronic equipment and coordinated with Stroz Friedberg regarding securing
of electronic assets and imaging of office servers and individual computers

Disposed of perishable items

Fielded and responded to communications from Defendants’ vendors regarding leased office equipment
and office contracts

Performed thorough searches of offices and homes of individual Defendants and Relief Defendants

Prepared numerous boxes of materials and equipment which were packaged and forwarded to the Receiver

515593 000002 Active 5273384.1
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THOMPSON & KNIGHT Page 3
LLp September 30, 2012

¢ Coordinated with US Marshals, local police and private security service providers to further secure
Receivership assets and records

Communication with Vendors, Employees and Customers

¢ Fielded and responded to communications and inquiries from Defendants’ vendors regarding retrieval of
leased office equipment, status of office service contracts, and liens against real and personal property

* Fielded and responded to communications and inquiries from Defendants’ employees and Relief
Defendants

e Fielded and responded to communications from investors, media, Department of Justice, United States
Attorneys, and other interested parties regarding case status and access to records

e Engaged forensic accountants

Communication with Landlords

¢ Formally notified all landlords/property managers of the Receivership

e Communicated with landlords to forestall lockout and repossession of leased office premises based on lease
provisions listing “receivership” as an event of default by the tenant

Closing and Liquidation of Offices and Assets

e Took steps to limit expenses incurred by Defendants in their offices upon determination by the Receiver
that Defendants did not operate a viable business

¢ Coordinated with other professionals hired by the Receiver; closed and began process of liquidating
property located in offices

¢  Coordinated with and supervised employees’ final opportunity for access to remove personal belongings
e Monitored employee removal of personal belongings

e Secured all flash drives, compact discs, and other portable media for boxing and shipping to Receiver

¢ Coordinated the packing of all IT equipment containing data for shipment to Receiver

*  Prepared and placed Chain of Custody forms for each box and item to be shipped to Receiver

»  Coordinated the transfer of keys and facilitated the eventual return of leased premises to landlords

Engaged appraisers and auctioneers

Catalogued property seized from Defendants

Reached resolution and obtained Court authority regarding sale and surrender of assets

Negotiated and closed sales of real and personal property

Management of Third-Party and Pending Litigation

s  Searched for pending pre-Receivership litigation and arbitration matters

515593 000002 Active 5273384.1
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Analyzed pending matters and conferred with Receiver and counsel regarding strategy and options for
proceeding

Prepared correspondence and communicated with opposing counsel regarding the effect of receivership and
of orders entered by the Northern District of Texas

Fielded inquiries and responded to issues raised by non-parties and unrelated counsel related to pre-
Receivership litigation

Researched and analyzed options regarding pursuit by Receiver of potential claims against third-parties
Subpoenaed records peninen; to Defendants and their business and personal and corporate finances
Conducted legal research regarding authority to liquidate property

Drafted numerous motions and briefs regarding authority to liquidate property

Conducted evidentiary hearing, resulting in finding that Defendants did conduct a Ponzi scheme since at
least 2004

Communicated with St. Vincent Joint Provisional Liquidators
Drafted various third party lawsuit in effort to recover funds for Receivership Estate
Prepared communications to persons holding fraudulently transferred funds to recover same for Estate

Handled queries and negotiated settlements of more than $500,000 in fraudulent transfer claims in order to
avoid unnecessary and costly litigation

Addressed contempt issues related to the asset freeze orders entered by the Court and prepared pleadings
and negotiation of same with all involved parties

Filed notice of Receivership in each district that newly discovered property subject to recovery may lie

Interviewed potential witnesses for clawback litigation to obtain evidence to assist in the recovery of
additional Receivership funds

Developed procedures for use in third-party litigation

Advancement of Ancillary Litigation

Filed third party lawsuits against net winning investors, Atlanta Northside Aviation, and the brokers to
recover funds for Receivership Estate

Served hundreds of net winning investors with lawsuit to collect funds for Receivership Estate
Communicated with hundreds of net winning investors to collect funds for Receivership Estate

Engaged in settlement negotiations with hundreds of net winning investors to recover over $900,000 in
funds for Receivership Estate

Appeared in the bankruptcy proceedings of broker to protect Receiver’s interests in the claims brought
against the brokers

Conducted written discovery to advance claims against net winning investors to collect funds for
Receivership Estate

515593 000002 Active 5273384.1
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Conducted written discovery to advance claims against Atlanta Northside Aviation to collect funds for
Receivership Estate

Took deposition of owner of Atlanta Northside Aviation

Prepared nonsuits with settling net winning investors

Prepare default judgments against hundreds of non-settling net winning investors
Prepare motions related to scheduling orders and pretrial materials in ancillary litigation
Drafted motion for summary judgment against non-settling and net winning investors
Drafted motion for summary judgment against Atlanta Northside Aviation

Participated in status conference with court and opposing counsel

Commenced discovery against the brokers in ancillary litigation

Miscellaneous

Analyzed investor returns in order to discern those persons who held fraudulently transferred funds
Supervised and analyzed forensic accounting results

Communicated with and directed the work of forensic accounting firm for specific purposes in ascertaining
the location of Receivership monies

Prepared periodic reports to the Court on the status of the Receivership

Prepared periodic reports to investors on the work of the Receiver and information pertinent to investors’
claims

Determined the location of monies transferred by Defendants that may be recoverable for Receivership
Estate

Performed extensive analysis of forensic accounting to develop complete picture of cash flow through
Defendants’ accounts

Cooperated with various government agencies to assist in their investigation
Maintained database of investor claims
Developed information pertinent to the possible location of additional Receivership assets

Prepare interim distribution list of net losing investors

515593 000002 Active 5273384.1
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SUMMARY OF FEES
Discounted

Name Title Hours Rate/Hr Amount
Bill Banowsky Partner 4.50 $460.00 $2,070.00
Jennifer Ecklund Associate 236.70 $308.00 72,903.60
Katie Clark Associate 1.40 $384.00 537.60
Janelle Davis Associate 35.90 $340.00 12,206.00
Tim Evans Associate 37.80 $215.00 8.127.00
Mackenzie Wallace Associate 281.60 $236.00 66,457.60

anice Graves Legal Assistant 402.70 $170.00 68,459.00
Linde Pavel Litigation Support 3.90 $65.00 517.20
Valeria Rodawalt Library .80 $99.00 79.20
TOTAL FEES 1005.30 $231,470.20

Reimbursable Costs

Air fare, lodging, ground transportation, and other vendors (e.g., locksmiths, utility providers, vehicle storage)
to complete work performed:

Total Reimbursable Costs

..........................................................................................

$  3,470.61
$ 212,135.01

*Reflects 20% discount on gross fees for professional services and netting out of fees for preparation of the
Application, Receiver’s Report and $X in paralegal fees.

515593 000002 Active 5273384.1
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P.0. Box 635179
Cincinnati, OH 45263-5179
1D. #61-1584266
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Richard Roper Receiver Account No.: 118909.000001
Attn: Katharine E. Battaia Invoice No.: 4234751
Thompson & Knight LLP Invoice Date: June 5, 2012
1722 Routh Street, Suite 1500

Dallas, TX 75201

DAVID DEAN JONES

FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED THROUGH MAY 31, 2012:

" ATTORNEY/
DATE PARALEGAL, DESCRIPTION HOURS AMOUNT
05/14/12 IB Attention to communications regarding hearing 0.20 34.40
05/15/12 1B Check docket and schedule of hearing; e-mails to co- 2.00 344.00
counsel regarding same; review AP docket and relevant
pleadings; review documents sent by co-counsel in
preparation for the hearing
05716/12 AWC2 Phone-call to Bankruptcy Clerk regarding telephonic 0.30 58.50
participation at Status Hearing; e-mail to 1. Shallcross
05/16/12 B Trave] to Owensboro; pre-hearing preparation; attend 6.50 1,118.00
status hearing; post-hearing conference with co-counsel;
travel from Owensboro
05/16/12 SHM Review and docket order for continued status hearing 0.10 16.80
FEES FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED $ 1,571.70
OUT-OF-POCKET EXPENSES
5/16/12 Travel - PAID TO: Ivana Babic Shallcross 59.94
. Attend hearing/Owensboro .
Administrative Expense (including
telephone, photocopy, & postage) 39.29
| $ 99.23

Indianapolis Jasper Evansville Vincennes, Indiana
Louisvifle Lexington Frankfort, Kentucky
Cincinnati, Ohio
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BincHam Greenesaum Dol up
Richard Roper Rocei Invoice No.: 4234751
1 18909.000%1 et Invoice Date: June 5,2012
Page 2
INVOICE TOTAL $ 1,670.93
PRIOR UNPAID BALANCE S 6,152214
BALANCE DUE $ 181307
_SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

ATTORNEY/PARALEGAL HOURS RATE AMOUNT

Angela W. Coates 030 195.00 58.50

Ivana B. Shallcross 8.70 172.00 1,496.40

S. H. Mays 0.10 168.00 16.80

9.10 1,571.70



